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INTRODUCTION



On behalf of Council and staff 
of the Corporation of the Town 
of Niagara-on-the-Lake, it is 
our pleasure to present the 
2018 Annual Report. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake is one 
of Canada’s most historic 
and picturesque towns. 
Established as a settlement 
for United Empire Loyalists 
in 1781, the Town was 
incorporated and became the 
first capital of Upper Canada 
in 1792. Today, it is the only 
municipality in Canada whose 
Head of Council bears the 
title of Lord Mayor. While we 
are home to approximately 
17,500 permanent residents, 
we also welcome millions of 
visitors to our community each 
year. Residents and visitors 
alike enjoy the Town’s natural 

beauty, as well as our many heritage landmarks and local amenities, including some of the finest vineyards, 
orchards and greenhouses in Canada; the world-famous Shaw Festival Theatre; internationally-acclaimed 
wineries’ and four-star dining and visitor accommodations. 

2018 has been a very active and exciting year for our community. The Town was host to numerous festivals 
celebrating local agriculture including peaches, strawberries and cherries. The Park and Pedal program officially 
launched in May and the Safety Committee published a new cycling map. The 2018 Municipal and School 
Board Election campaign period began in July, with many candidates running for a variety of positions. The 
municipal election was held on October 22, 2018 and Niagara-on-the-Lake saw the highest voter turnout rate in 
the Niagara Region- over 50 percent. For the first time, the Inaugural Council Meeting was hosted at the Shaw 
Festival Theatre to accommodate a larger audience. The celebration was attended by almost 500 people and a 
wonderful night was had by all. 2018 was a year of change and we are looking forward to the challenges of the 
future.  

Niagara-on-the-Lake is a vibrant and growing community, one that welcomes diversity and encourages unity. 
On behalf of Town Council and staff, we are extremely proud of the work we have accomplished this year and 
of our employees’ dedication to providing quality programs and services for our residents and to the millions of 
visitors who join us each year.

Sincerely,

Holly Dowd
CAO

GREETINGS FROM
LORD MAYOR & CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

Betty Disero
Lord Mayor
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Betty Disero
Lord Mayor

Gary Burroughs
Councillor

Norm Arsenault
Councillor

Clare Cameron
Councillor/ Deputy Lord Mayor

Allan Bisback
Councillor

Wendy Cheropita
Councillor

LORD MAYOR & 
COUNCIL MEMBERS

Stuart McCormack
Councillor

Erwin Wiens
Councillor

John Wiens
Councillor



CORPORATE 
MISSION
We are committed to supporting a high quality 
of community life through the delivery of 
friendly, effective and efficient government 
services.

OUR VALUES
Accountability,  
Dedication,  
Respect,  
Service Excellence.

CORPORATE 
VISION
To further value, align and invest in the diversity of 
our community to support and sustain a high quality 
of life for our residents and visitors.
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Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of twelve municipalities within Niagara Region. Prior to the creation of the 
Regional Municipality of Niagara in 1970, the area was comprised of the former Town and Townships of 
Niagara. The Town is represented by a Lord Mayor and eight Councillors.

Niagara-on-the-Lake also holds the distinction of being the first capital of Upper Canada from 1792-1796 
when it was known as Newark.

The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by Town Council to oversee the management and 
operation of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. As the Town manager, the CAO advises 
Council on all municipal programs and services and is accountable to Council for all operations of the 
Corporation.

LEGISLATIVE  
AUTHORITY
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Holly Dowd
Chief Administrative Officer 

Rob Grimwood
Fire Chief

Craig Larmour
Director, Community & Development 

Services

Sheldon Randall
Director, Operations

Kyle Freeborn
Acting Director, Corporate Services

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
TEAM
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART
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RESPONSIBILITIES

• Chief advisor to Town Council

• Provides leadership to Town staff

• Coordinates all departments to ensure 
efficient implementation of Council policies 
and directives

• Guides the implementation of Town 
Council’s Strategic Plan

• Develops and maintains key relationships 
with other municipal, provincial and federal 
governments and organizations

Leading a team of exceptional employees, Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Chief Administrative Officer 
(CAO), Holly Dowd, serves as the most senior position of the Corporation and is responsible to 
Town Council for the effective and efficient operation of all Town programs and services. 

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Engagement 
Human Resources
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

LIST OF 2018 ACHIEVEMENTS:
Community Engagement 

• Events held in 2018 included:

• Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Senior Citizen 
Strawberry Social that was attended by 
approximately 280 senior residents 

• Community Engagement and Volunteer 
Fair at the Community Centre, attended 
by 120 people, connecting volunteers to 
volunteer opportunities

• A children’s Halloween scavenger hunt 
in the Council Chambers

• Second Annual Step Challenge in 
collaboration with the  
Niagara-on-the-Lake Active 
Transportation Committee 

• First Annual Grade 8 Mental Health 
and Wellness Conference, co-hosted by 
the Town and the Lord Mayor’s Youth 
Advisory Council

• Summer Kick-off in partnership with the 
NOTL Library 

• The Town’s Volunteer Talent Bank grew to 
120 subscribers 

• A substantial increase in social media 
followers due to posting multiple posts a day 
with graphics across multiple platforms

• Launched the Town’s Instagram page  
(@niagara.on.the.lake) and quickly reached 
1500 followers 

• Join the Conversation NOTL  
(www.jointheconversationnotl.org), a new 
online community engagement tool was 
launched, currently has over 1000 registered 
users and has been well received by staff, 
Council, and the public
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

LIST OF 2018 ACHIEVEMENTS:
Human Resources

• Filled 11 vacant full-time positions and 
hired 56 contract staff throughout the 
organization 

• Completed the job evaluation process for 
all staff to ensure legislative compliance and 
pay equity 

• Created a new electronic performance 
evaluation tool for employees which 
includes self-evaluation, goal setting, and 
development opportunities 

• Continued to update corporate policies as 
required by legislation 

• Created an onboarding program for new 
employees to assist with the transition into 
their new roles 

Staff Wellness

Several events, seminars and activities took 
place in 2018 to encourage staff wellness in the 
workplace: 

• Offered financial wellness seminars

• Organized weekly yoga classes during lunch 
hours 

• Facilitated a Mental Health Awareness 
presentation

• Held a clothing drive to support Koats for 
Kids and provided 75 warm coats along with 
an abundance of hats, mittens and scarves 
to Newark Neighbours, Hope House and 
Community Cares
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

As the Acting Director of Corporate Services, it is my pleasure to present the department’s 
achievements and milestones for 2018. 

Acting as the administrative backbone of the Town, Corporate Services supports most day-to-day 
operations of all the departments by processing transactions, answering and directing requests 
from the public, providing technical support or advice, and accepting or processing various 
applications. I am proud of our staff’s commitment and dedication to providing the best service 
possible, by utilizing the resources available. 

With assistance from all the departments and election workers, Corporate Services was able to 
hold a successful municipal election with Niagara-on-the-Lake drawing the highest voter turnout 
in the Niagara Region. 

Staff was also hard at work at further converting the Town’s communication systems.  Following 
the move in 2017 to convert the Town’s telephone system to a hosted telephone service, the 
Town has transitioned all email to Microsoft Office 365.  The new platform provides new and 
exciting ways for staff to collaborate and interact on projects. 

I look forward to what 2019 will bring and am confident that Corporate Services will play a strong 
role in fulfilling new and exciting priorities. 

SIncerely,

Kyle Freeborn, 
Acting Director of Corporate Services

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Office of the Town Clerk  
Finance & Taxation   
Information Technology 

GREETINGS FROM THE 
DIRECTOR
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LIST OF 2017 ACHIEVEMENTS:

• Canada Award for Financial Reporting - The Town has won seven consecutive awards for 
publishing high quality financial reports.

• Investment Policy – A policy was developed that will guide the Town when making investing 
decisions and will help grow an existing revenue source.

• Streaming and Archived Videos of Council and Committee Meetings- Archived Committees of 
Council videos have been made available to the public. Autonomous camera switching for live 
streaming of Council and Committee Meetings at Town Hall are archived and stored online 
and are publicly accessible. Last year’s addition of Committees of Council recorded meetings 
are now also stored online. Viewership remained steady in 2017 and continues to climb 
annually. Below are two charts; the first shows what types of devices people are using to watch 
Livestream and the second indicates whether people are watching a live or recorded meeting. 

CORPORATE 
SERVICES
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK

• The 2018 municipal and school board 
elections were successfully held on October 
22, 2018 with an increased voter turnout 
of 58.74%, which was the highest of any 
municipality in Niagara as far back as 2003

• By the end of 2018, there were 319 licensed 
short-term rental operations 

• The Town issued approximately 110 special 
event permits

• 23 Freedom of Information requests were 
received, as per the Municipal Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
(MFIPPA) 

Eligible  
electors Turnout

2006 13,006 47.0%
2010 12,772 48.7%
2014 13,477 48.5%
2018 14,213 58.7%

FINANCE & TAXATION

• Received the Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting- The Town has won seven 
consecutive awards for publishing high quality 
financial reports

• Approximately 500 residents signed up for 
e-send (receiving tax bills via email)

• 600 dog tags issued

• 830 residential parking passes issued 

• Completed a 5-year Development Charges 
background study

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

• In November 2018, the Town started 
transitioning over Corporate electronic 
communications to Office365

• Office365 has 120 users and over 650 
gigabytes of emails; contacts and calendars 
have been moved over to the new platform

• A secondary server room to house the 
Town’s second Storage Area Network 
was completed, strengthening the Town’s 
business continuity strategy by co-locating 
virtual production and legacy servers

• Analytics for the Town’s website include:

• 600,000 page views

• All age groups are well represented

• Over half of visitors use mobile devices

• Top 5 pages: Employment 
Opportunities, Town Hall, Municipal 
Elections Results, “Visit The Community”, 
and Council Business

• Over 470 Online Service Requests were 
received in 2018, representing 35% of 
all 2018 requests that the Town has 
had in comparison to call-ins and in-
person requests
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

As the Director for the Community and Development Services Department, I am pleased to 
present our annual report of the department’s core services and achievements for 2018.  

Our Building Division remained very active in meeting the needs of the development community 
to provide new residential and commercial opportunities within the Town.  Internally, staff 
continued work on numerous efficiency projects including our digital building permit process, 
which allows applicants to conduct business with the Department without having to step into the 
municipal offices.     

The By-law Enforcement Division continues to provide strong service to the community in the face 
of increasing demand.  The addition of a new position, Supervisor of Enforcement, has increased 
the capacity of the Division in meeting the needs of the community.  The stability created in 2018 
will afford the Division an opportunity to support Council’s review of several By-laws beginning in 
2019.  

Interest in development within Niagara-on-the-Lake remains high, fully occupying the resources 
of the Planning Division.  The Department received 72 development applications, a slight 
decrease from the 76 applications received in 2017.  These applications included draft plans of 
condominiums and subdivisions, part lot control, site plan approval, development agreements 
and deeming by-laws. They also received zoning and official plan amendments. Staff engaged in 
58 pre-development consultation meetings with residents and developers.  

Finally, I would like to recognize the efforts of our citizen volunteers who dedicate their time 
working to make a meaningful contribution to the creation of a better community. Special thanks 
goes to members of the Agricultural Advisory Committee, Committee of Adjustment, Glendale 
Task Force, Municipal Heritage Committee, Sign Committee and Urban Design Committee who 
provide support to this Department. 

Looking back on what Council and Staff have accomplished together in 2018, I am hopeful that we 
are on a path that will build on our achievements in 2019. 

Sincerely

Craig Larmour 
Director of Community and 
Development Services

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Planning Services 
Building Services 
Parking and By-law Enforcement 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT

The Committee of Adjustment is a quasi-
judicial body comprised of citizen members 
appointed by Council. The Committee hears 
and makes decisions on applications for 
minor variance and consent to sever land. 
They also make decisions on Fence Variance 
Applications and Legal Non-Conforming 
Uses. In 2018 the Committee processed 
applications for: 30 Minor Variances, 28 
Consents, 3 Fence Variances, and 4 Legal 
Non-Conforming Uses.    

URBAN DESIGN 

Urban design provides a set of expressive 
and analytical tools used when working with 
built form, land use, landscaping, and hard 
infrastructure. All development applications are 
reviewed and commented on in accordance 
with the municipality’s urban design policies, 
guidelines and standards. In 2018, the Urban 
Design Specialist processed 11 applications 
through the Urban Design Committee and was 
a commentator on all development applications 
processed.  

Rendering of Vineridge Academy by AND Architecture Inc.
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

HERITAGE 

The conservation of the Town’s heritage 
is an important part of the municipality’s 
culture and a priority for Council. In 2018, 
there were 37 Heritage Permits issued, 
4 Heritage Designations applied, and 7 
properties added to The Municipal Register 
of Heritage Properties. Carl Bray from Carl 
Bray and Associates Ltd. engaged in an Estate 
Lot study for Old Town. As a result of this 
process, relevant Official Plan policies and 
zoning provisions will be created that ensure 
responsible development in Old Town.  

The following properties were honored with 
Municipal and Regional grants to assist with 
their efforts in preservation and conservation:

• 164 Victoria Street, Exterior Painting of 
Dwelling and Garage 

• 87 Ball Street, Installation of Cedar Roof 

• 20 Platoff Street, Replacement of Board and 
Batten Siding 

• 135 Johnson Street, Replacement of Wood 
Siding 

• 123 Johnson Street, Exterior Painting of 
Dwelling 

• 177 Victoria Street, Exterior Painting of the 
House and Barn 

• 433 Regent Street, Exterior Painting of the 
Dwelling 87 Ball Street

164 Victoria Street
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

BUILDING 
SERVICES

BUILDING SERVICES

Building staff are responsible for the 
administration and enforcement of both 
Provincial and Municipal Regulations. At the 
Provincial level, the department enforces 
the Ontario Building Code to ensure 
that all construction meets the minimum 
standards required.  At the municipal level, 
the department enforces the municipality’s 
zoning regulations which are designed to 
ensure that all development within the 
municipality conforms to specific guidelines. 
Staff also assist customers to ensure safe 
and systematic development.   

Department activity is directly related 
to growth. The graphs note that permit 
numbers saw a slight decrease of 6.7% 
from those of 2017, with a corresponding 
decrease of 27.8% in construction value. 
However, the building permit fees slightly 
exceeded the 2018 budgeted forecast by 
5.6%.
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKING & BY-LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

PARKING ENFORCEMENT

The Parking Enforcement Officers patrol 
and enforce parking by-laws throughout the 
municipality, including the Niagara-on-the-Lake 
campus of Niagara College. They also serve as 
ambassadors for our visitors, residents and 
students.  The department also maintains the 
day-to-day business operations of the many 
parking meters throughout the municipality. 
During 2018, the officers issued and processed 
8433 parking infractions and sold over 3000 
residential parking permits.  

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT

The By-law Enforcement Officers oversee the 
administration of the municipality’s regulatory 
by-laws. Enforcement Officers exercise their 
authority in enforcing the Town by-laws 
including matters such as animal control, 
short-term rentals, fences, noise, signs, clean 
yards and property standards. During 2018, 
officers responded to 772 concerns, which is 
an increase from 600 responses in 2017. 
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THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Emergency Management 
Fire Prevention 
Fire Suppression 
Public Education 
 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

It is an honour and a pleasure to present the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services 
Annual Report to Council, residents and staff. The provision of Emergency Services is a complex 
and continually evolving field. Looking back on 2018, I am proud of the hard work of our 
staff and the many accomplishments that we have achieved. It requires dedicated staff who 
are willing to adapt to changes, work hard and continuously train to meet the needs of the 
community. 

This annual report will provide you with a sense of our accomplishments in 2018 and show the 
level of dedication our department has towards serving our community. Many of these things 
would not be possible without the fine work of our staff, but also without the continued support 
from Council and the Senior Management Team of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

This report provides insight into the time, effort and dedication provided to the community by 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services in 2018. The report outlines call volumes, fire 
prevention statistics, public education efforts, professional development achievements and 
many other significant strides that were made over the past year. 

The Fire & Emergency Services Department strives to provide the residents and visitors of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake with prompt, professional and compassionate service from well trained and 
well-equipped firefighters. We are committed to our role of responding to assist people during 
their time of need and maintain our commitment to provide a high-level of service. 

For those who have an opportunity to read this report, I hope it provides a glimpse into the daily 
operations of our Department. It is always an honour and a privilege to open the doors of our 
organization to the people we serve. 

Sincerely,

 

Rob Grimwood 

GREETINGS FROM 
THE FIRE CHIEF
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

2018 ACHIEVEMENTS & 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Recruited and trained 14 new firefighters.

Placed a new light rescue squad into service at 
Station 1.

Successfully certified 81 firefighters and officers 
through the Ontario Fire Marshals Office 
Academic Standards and Evaluation Unit in 
various NFPA standards.

Exceeded Fire Prevention Division targets 
for conducting fire safety inspections and 
completed fire safety inspections and 
witnessed fire drills at all care occupancies.

Replaced the main communication system 
antenna on the Virgil water tower, the first step 
towards the replacement and modernization of 
the fire communication radio system.

Implemented a new records management 
system for training records, fire safety 
inspections and other fire prevention activities.

Ordered a new tanker truck which will be 
delivered in 2019.

Initiated the first phase of a project 
to replace old fire hoses, nozzles and 
firefighting appliances which resulted in the 
implementation of the use of lightweight 
fire attack hose and smooth bore nozzles 
which will result in improved fire suppression 
operations.

Achieved compliance with Emergency 
Management Ontario’s municipal 
requirements, including running a successful 
emergency exercise.

Coordinated a successful Residential Smoke 
and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Inspection 
Program.

Completed the replacement of a staff vehicle, 
the addition of on-board supplied air on 
Ladder 1, the refurbishment of Pumper 2A 
and the addition of a generator cord reel on 
Pumper 4.

Completed the purchase/replacement of 
firefighting foam and fire extinguishers so that 
all fire apparatuses are now equipped with 
the proper type and quantity of compliant fire 
extinguishers and each front-line pumper is 
equipped to be able to utilize firefighting foam.

See Appendix A for the full 2018 Fire and Emergency Services Annual Report
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2018 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE STATISTICS

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to a total of 682 calls in 2018. This was 
an increase of 28 calls from 2017.

The graph below outlines the total call volume over the last 5 years:

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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CALL TYPES

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses that Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire 
responded to in 2018 by type of call.

*Other: Vehicle Fires – 17 
  Arching Hydro Lines – 3 
  Garbage Container/Rubbish Fires – 4 
  Elevator Rescues – 3 
  Water/Ice Rescue – 2 
  Rope Rescues – 0

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

STATION RESPONSES

There were 999 total responses by Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters in 2018. Several of the 682 
calls required the response of more than one station. 

These additional responses include the need for multiple station responses to complex buildings, 
highway accidents, structure fires and requests for additional personnel.

The below chart shows the distribution of response by station with the breakdown of in-district 
calls, out-of-district calls and highway calls.
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

STRUCTURE FIRES

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to 9 structure fires in 2018.

These included:

Small fire in a commercial building on Niagara Stone Road on March 30 (minor damage)

Kitchen fire in a residential dwelling on Carlton Street on April 26 (significant damage)

Small electrical fire in a residential dwelling on Line 6 on May 28 (minor damage)

Structure fire in a mixed commercial/residential building on Market Street on May 30 (significant 
damage)

House fire in a residential dwelling on Line 1 on June 30 (significant damage)

Appliance fire in a residential dwelling on Victoria Street on July 20 (minor damage)

Structure fire in a commercial building on Mississauga Street on August 13 (significant damage)

Appliance fire in a residential dwelling on Village Road on September 4 (minor damage)

House fire in a residential dwelling (with spread to two neighbouring houses) on Annmarie Drive 
on September 16 (significant damage)
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OPERATIONS

The Operations Mission, Vision and Core Values provide the strategic framework that guides the 
Department to achieve our planned projects and work programs throughout each year. 

Our mission is to advance our community’s collective quality of life and potential through adaptive 
leadership and leading-edge service delivery. Our vision is one of a thriving, proud, diverse and 
connected culture which features a rich heritage, strong values and a timeless yet contemporary 
atmosphere. We uphold and improve our community through positive and optimistic shared core 
values of respect, listening and ethics with a commitment to serve through sound analysis and 
decision making. 

Personally, I am filled with gratitude for the opportunity to work alongside this unparalleled staff 
team. They are the most skilled, resourceful, dedicated, flexible and genuinely kind public sector 
professionals I have ever known. They bring their best every day! 

Most importantly we would like to thank the Town, residents, businesses and tourists for their 
continued support. To a very large extent, the work we do reflects the values and priorities of our 
community. 

Sincerely, 

Sheldon Randal 
Director of Operations

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Parks and Recreation 
Public Works 
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2018 GRANTS APPLICATIONS

• Ontario Trillium Foundation – educational program and application development for 
Voices of Freedom 

• Heritage Canada – Legacy Fund – installation of the artwork for Voices of Freedom Park 

• Niagara Investment in Culture Grant (Niagara Region) – opening ceremonies for the Voices 
of Freedom Park 

• Niagara Community Foundation – educational program and application development for 
Voices of Freedom 

• Niagara Region – cost sharing with Niagara Region for public space recycling bins  

Parks and Recreation is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all Town owned 
recreational facilities (i.e. arenas, pools, a splash pad, sports fields, recreational complexes, Court 
House, Community Centre), park maintenance (22 parks, 130 acres), Queen Street boulevard 
maintenance and horticultural duties, management of cemeteries (1 operational, 8 abandoned), 
and maintenance of all public washrooms and municipal properties. The Parks and Recreation 
division also produces the semi-annual Community Guide for social and recreational services.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION
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COMMUNITIES IN BLOOM

• Participated in the Circle of 
Excellence – Non-Evaluated 

• Outstanding Achievement 
award for Heritage 
Conservation

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

2018 PROJECTS

• Utilized skilled Town staff instead of a contractor to remove close to 75 ash trees resulting 
in a significant savings 

• Internally designed and installed new landscape for Queen’s Royal Park parking lot 

• Purchased 25 additional recycling bins for parks recycling program with associated 
diversion to result in reduced waste disposal expense 

• Purchased and assembled 20 new picnic tables for the Community Centre and Simcoe 
Park 

• Utilized skilled Town staff to design and install shrub beds on Queen Street 

• Completed phase four of Queen Street flower bed surrounds 

• Replaced three riding mowers and purchased more efficient mower model based on staff 
feedback

• Dock Area - Culvert Restoration
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE

• Rubber matting installed in weight and cardio machine area   

• Strength equipment replacement in the track and fitness area 

• Penner Room renovations - new sink, counter and cupboards installed

• Board Room chair renovations – purchased 15 new chairs 

• Additional picnic tables added to the complement in the backyard green space 

Community Centre Programs

• Drop-in pickleball at the Community Centre led to the NOTL Pickleball Club forming. They 
now have over 130 members and play 5+ times per week at the Community Centre. 

• Hosted - Ride for Dad’s Charity Dinner for Prostate Cancer – over 300 guests attended 

• Hosted - Annual Bunny Trail – over 300 attendees  

• Hosted - Migrant Workers Event Fair – over 400 in attendance 

• Hosted - Rotary District 7090 event – over 400 in attendance including the worldwide 
Rotary president Barry Rassin. 

• Hosted - Niagara Area Unit 255 Bridge Tournament – over 300 participants 

• Established Kids Tennis Partnership to host an indoor kids tennis program which has over 
30 participants  
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

AQUATICS

• Niagara pool pump replacement 

Attendance for both pools as noted in chart below 
Pool Programs * Memberships Admissions
Niagara (Memorial) 268 49 4,847
St. Davids 172 375 3,675
Total 440 84 8522

*Programs include: group lessons, advanced programs, family lessons, private & semi private 
lessons 

Community Centre Programs (con’t)

Camp attendance noted in chart below 
Camp Participants (Full Week) Participants (Single Days)
March Break 10 13
Summer Camp 124 385
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

FACILITIES

• Assumed ownership of the Old 
Hospital at 176 Wellington Street. 
Tenants include family doctors, nurse 
practitioner, Life Labs, physiotherapy, 
palliative care, and Royal Oak 
Community School 

• Virgil Sports Park Ball Diamond LED 
Light replacement 

• Virgil Sports Park Ball diamond C 
irrigation extension 

• Meridian Credit Union Arena heat 
exchanger 

• Meridian Credit Union Arena and 
Centennial Arena compressor 
rebuilds 

• MCU Arena upgrades: ticket office/
Jr A dressing room/grease trap 
concession 

• Installation of Greenhouse

• First season of the NOTL Nationals – 
Junior A hockey team



342018 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

PAVING PROJECTS 

• Virgil pickle ball courts 

• North side of Centennial Arena 

• Operations – Parks and Recreation yard 

HYDRO REBATES

• LED lighting inside and outside for Fire Stations #1 & #5  

• LED lighting for Fire Station #3, fire truck bay area and all outdoor lighting  

• LED lighting outdoor for Fire Station #2 

• LED lighting for Virgil Sports Park ball diamonds A, B, C 

• HVAC replacement for Fire Station #2

CEMETERY  

• 65 interments and 47 cremations 

• Tree planting and layout of new Section I for approximately 650 double 
interments

• Replacement of mower P567 with zero turn mower 

• Interlock projects – surround columbarium #6 and relay of interlock surround 
columbarium #2 

• Replacement of main water line  
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ENGINEERING

• Queenston Road - widening and resurfacing 
of 1040 metres of road between Concession 
7 Road and Townline Road. The work 
included the addition of bike lanes, addition/
replacement of guide rails and slope 
stabilization in various areas. The project 
was partially completed (70%) with the 
remainder of the works to be completed in 
the spring of 2019.  

• Tanbark Road - reconstruction of 400 
metres of road between York Road to the 
north urban boundary. The work included 
the addition of 500 metres of storm sewers 
for road drainage, addition of curb and 
gutters on both sides of the road, boulevard 
improvements and a new sidewalk on the 
east side of Tanbark Road. 

The Public Works division is responsible for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the Town’s public works infrastructure including water distribution, wastewater and storm 
water collection systems, roads, sidewalks, streetlights, transit, municipal drains, irrigation 
systems, and related easements and right-of-ways. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

• Road resurfacing - milling and resurfacing of the following roads:

• Four Mile Creek Road – resurfacing (top course) of 1,000 metres of road between East and 
West Line Road and Hunter Road  

• Queenston Street – resurfacing 350 metres of road between Highlander Street and 
Clarence Street 

• Read Road – resurfacing 1,000 metres (east lane edge) between Seaway Haulage Road and 
Church Road
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Watermains  

• Replacement of 150 metres of cast iron 
mains on Queen Street between Mississauga 
Street and Simcoe Street.  

• Replacement of 260 metres of cast 
iron mains on William Street between 
Mississagua Street and Simcoe Street and 
between Gate Street and Victoria Street. 

• Replacement of 825 metres of cast iron/
asbestos cement mains on Concession 6 
Road between Line 1 Road and Line 2 Road. 

• Replacement of 570 metres of cast iron 
mains on Tanbark Road between York Road 
and 270 metres south of Line 9 Road. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Grants

The Town applied for grant funding under the 
Clean Water and Wastewater Fund in late 2016 
which was subsequently approved in July of 
2017 to replace future capital project funded 
cast iron watermains.  

Projects were tendered soon after receiving 
approval with construction initiated in late 
2017/early 2018.  

Projects Included: 

• Line 3 Road (Concession 1 Road to Niagara 
River Parkway) - replacement of 720 metres 
of asbestos cement mains. (100% Complete)  

• Simcoe Street (Johnson Street to Centre 
Street) - replacement of 300 metres of 
cast iron mains. (100% Complete)  King 
Street (John Street to Johnson Street) - 
replacement of 750 metres of cast iron 
mains. (100% Complete)  

• Centre Street (Regent Street to King Street) 
- replacement of 150 metres of cast iron 
mains. (100% Complete)  

• Commons (Wellington Street to Ricardo 
Street - replacement of 825 metres of cast 
iron mains. (100% Complete)  

• A total replacement of 2, 745 metres of cast 
iron/asbestos cement mains was completed 
under this grant funding. 
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

The Town applied for grant funding in 2018 
under the Federation of Canadian Municipalities 
Municipal Asset Management Program which 
provides funding for projects that will help 
Canadian cities and communities of all sizes 
enhance their asset management practices. 
The Town received confirmation that our grant 
application was successful on December 17, 
2018. Information regarding our road network 
was collected by Street Scan Inc. which will be 
used to assist with the preparation of a Roads 
Needs Study which is to be completed in 2019.

Storm Sewers  

Tanbark Road - installation of 500 metres of 
new storm sewer on Tanbark Road between 
York Road and north of Stoneridge Crescent 

LED Conversion Map 2018Street Lights 

Conversion of 40 High Pressure Sodium streetlights to LED in the Chautauqua Area (Phase 2). The 
conversion program is part of the Town’s ongoing plan to convert all the Town’s streetlights to 
LED which will see lower energy costs and longer service life.  

Roads 

• Winter brought 49 events that required sanding or plowing 

• Ash Tree removal for 2018: 32 trees removed and 743 trees remaining that still require re-
moval 

• 2018 initiative was to implement a rotation of patrol trials. Winter patrol program has been 
very successful with all Roads Department employees participating in the patrol rotation. Each 
employee gets an opportunity to take on the duty as winter patrol for a 2-week period over the 
winter months. 

Trails and Sidewalks  

• Installation of a new sidewalk on the east side of Tanbark Road from York Road to Stoneridge 
Crescent.  
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Water and Wastewater 

Drinking Water Quality Management System 
(DWQMS) - In 2018, the Town’s Drinking Water 
Quality Management System was revised to 
comply with Version 2 of the standard. A full 
risk assessment was completed with the new 
additional requirements including climate 
change. Surveillance and re-accreditation audits 
were completed by the accreditation authority 
and a new certificate of accreditation, valid for 
three years, was issued. The annual Ministry 
of the Environment, Conservation and Parks 
(MECP) inspection and the internal audit, with 
Acclaims Environmental, were completed. 

Irrigation 

Irrigation App - Town staff rolled out a new 
phone app called “eRigator”. This app allows 
the irrigators to enter pump information on 
their respective systems, so all the reporting 
is stored electronically for each landowner, 
eliminating physical paperwork. Once this 
information is entered, each landowner only 
must open the app and press “pump on” or 
“pump off”, automatically storing the water 
usage information MECP requires as part of 
their permitting process.  Once submitted, 
both the Ministry and the Town receive all 
needed information with no further paperwork 
required. 2019 will build more onto this app, 
further simplifying the process and improving 
the design system to provide greater volumes 
of water across the entire system. 

Dee Road Pumphouse - Irrigators now have a 
state of the art pumphouse which will supply 
up to 10,000 GPM (gallons per minute) of water, 
delivered through two large pumps (shown in 
photo). This system is completely automated 
and operated by computer or phone with 24 
hour inside/outside surveillance. The system 
is setup to allow for the installation of a third 
pump if needed in the future. Two pumps meet 
our current Ministry approved permit to take 
and supply water to the capacity of our existing 
drainage/irrigation channels. 

Dee Road Pumphouse
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UAV - Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (Drones)  - 
Town staff have been working with companies 
who have introduced UAV technology, 
highlighting how drones can assist in everyday 
work and provide insight on cost savings. 
Operationally, these drones have been involved 
in projects like storm water management, 
surveying municipal drains, engineering capital 
projects and irrigation challenges. The data 
provided is high definition imagery, contour 
mapping, cross section and profile data which 
has assisted in many decisions made on capital 
projects and others like storm ponds. These 
drones were also used to take video and 
imagery along Queen Street.

Environmental Services Technology - The 
Environmental Services Division required a 
digital solution to assist in efficiently acquiring 
data for the location of water valves.  Research 
showed that other municipalities and regions 
had purchased a valve turning machine. 
This machine has a multitude of functions, 
including a mini vacuum system to remove dirt 
with a high-powered pressure washer, an air 
compressor line to attach items like saws, jack 
hammers, and other air tools. The valve turning 
machine (picture below) allows the valve to be 
exercised, cleared of any debris fallen into the 
chamber, automatically coordinate the location, 
provide statistics on the valve, size, number of 
turns to open and close or if repair is required 
due to breakage.  The machine can continue 
to turn these valves meaning operators are no 
longer at risk of injuries occurring from manual 
turns. The Town has a valve turning program 
which will extensively begin in 2019. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

2018 GRANTS APPLICATIONS

Environmental

• Great Lakes Sustainability Fund - Investigate possible sources of contamination along the King 
Street Storm Sewers to Queens Royal Beach

Infrastructure/Engineering

• Clean Water and Wastewater Fund - Installation of 5 new water mains; Line 3 (Concession 1 to 
NRP), King Street (Johnson to John), Simcoe Street (Centre to Johnson), Centre Street (King to 
Regent), Commons (Wellington to Queens Parade to Ricardo)

• Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program - Installation of 5 new water mains: Line 3 
(Concession 1 to NRP), King Street (Johnson to John), Simcoe Street (Centre to Johnson), Centre 
Street (King to Regent), Commons (Wellington to Queens Parade to Ricardo)

• AMO Main Street Revitalization Fund - Funds to improve Queen Street area, exact placement 
of funds to be determined

Heritage

• Ontario Trillium Foundation - Creation of an interactive walking tour of the Old Town to 
highlight areas of significance pertaining to local Black History starting at the Voices of 
Freedom Park

• Niagara Investment in Culture - Funding for the opening ceremony for the Voices of Freedom 
Park 

• Building Communities through Arts and Heritage Program, Legacy Fund - Funding for the 
design and construction of the Voices of Freedom Park

• Canada 150 – Community Infrastructure Program - Funding for the design and construction of 
the Voices of Freedom Park

• Canada 150 – Community Infrastructure Program - Renovations to the Courthouse including 
upgrades to the HVAC system and landscaping

• Canada 150 – Community Infrastructure Program - Restoration of the historic railroad culvert 
located in the Dock Area of the Old Town
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2018 BY THE NUMBERS

1 New Lending Library at Virgil Arena
1 New Holds Pick Up Locker at Virgil 

Arena
6 Libraries in Niagara Cooperative 

(LINC) launched reciprocal borrow-
ing. NOTLPL members can now 
borrow items from Pelham, Niagara 
College, Lincoln and Fort Erie Public 
Libraries. Thorold joined in 2018.

6 Author visits 
105 Adult programs 
211 Children’s programs 
858 New memberships

4,956 Card holders 
100,941 Items borrowed 
414,507 Visits (in person and  

online) 

The Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library is one of the most inclusive of public spaces and strives 
to provide educational, cultural, recreational and social opportunities to all members of the 
community. The Library is comprised of a team of professional staff and community volunteers 
committed to enriching the community by providing access to the world’s ideas and information. 

The NOTL Public Library is an important community hub proactively encouraging community 
connectivity and creative thinking through its quality, future-focused library services. 

Under the Ontario Public Libraries Act, the NOTL Public Library Board is appointed by Town 
Council and responsible for library governance. The Town funds 94% of the library’s budget 
with the balance funded by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport, donations, fees, 
program revenue, grants and book sale proceeds.

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY
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PUBLIC  
LIBRARY

MATERIALS

• New Daisy Collection (Digital Talking Books) 
for those who have a print disability.

• Large collection of print material (books, 
magazines, newspapers)

• Live, Learn Jazz Collection
• Extensive e-book collection 
• Audiobook collection 
• DVDs
• Local history material (digital and micro-

form) 

• Online databases

RENTALS

• Rotary Room which seats 40 and includes 
access to a kitchenette

• Small meeting room (The Lab) which seats 
up to 10 people 

• Garden Gazebo 



SERVICES

• Interlibrary loans

• Homebound delivery to area nursing homes 
and private residences

• Borrowing Privileges at Niagara Falls, 
Welland, Fort Erie, Pelham and Thorold 
Public Libraries

• Free wireless internet

• 10 computer workstations 

• 8 laptops for public use

• Printing, photocopying, scanning and fax 
services

• Collection of online databases

• Fireside and Garden view reading areas

• Separate quiet study area

• Group study tables 

• Smart Locker Pick up and Delivery Service 
available in St. Davids & Virgil

• Lending Library Machine in Virgil Arena

• 3D Printing

• Embroidery Machine

• VHS to DVD Conversion

• Wood Carving Machinery

• Cricut cutting machine 

PROGRAMS

• Weekly reading readiness programs for 
infants to preschoolers

• Teen Book Club
• Seasonal crafts for children
• Makery workshops
• Minecraft club
• March Break and summer children’s 

programs 
• Knitting Club
• Tech tutoring and adult computer classes
• Health information sessions
• Beer and Books Book Club 
• Wine and Words Author Series 
• Genealogy Workshops
• Music classes for Children
• Live, Learn, Jazz Series  
• Power off and play soft play
• Summer Kick Off event in partnership with 

the Town
• Annual Garden Party

• Moccasin Talks

 

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY



FINANCIAL REPORT
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MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake is pleased to present its Financial Report for the 2018 year. This 
report has been prepared by management in accordance with the Municipal Act and based on 
the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada. The Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) serves the public interest by establishing standards and guidance 
for financial reporting by all Canadian entities in the public sector and by contributing to the 
development of internationally accepted public sector financial reporting standards.

The Financial Report communicates to stakeholders and residents the Town’s 2018 financial 
performance and provides information regarding significant financial policies and processes. The 
2018 financial results continue to demonstrate Niagara-on-the-Lake’s commitment to financial 
excellence. 

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake and the Niagara Region provide municipal services to Niagara-
on-the-Lake taxpayers. The Niagara Region is exclusively responsible for garbage collection and 
disposal, water treatment, waste water services, policing, and social services. The Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake’s financial statements do not include the cost of Niagara Region services. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s property tax bill includes levies for the Town, the Niagara Region, the 
Province of Ontario (for education purposes), and the Niagara Health System. The Town’s 2018 
levy impact on a typical residential property was approximately 20% of the total property tax bill. 

With each budget cycle, Council and staff carefully review all services areas to improve efficiency 
and value for taxpayers. As a result of this review, the Town was able to limit its property tax bill 
increase to approximately 0.80% on the Town’s portion of the tax bill without compromising 
services. The increase in the total tax bill including the Niagara Region, Education, and Niagara 
Health System was approximately 2.46%. 

While the Town continues to grow, staff must be mindful of spending and that can be challenging 
for a growing town like Niagara-on-the-Lake. With the use of policies, priorities, and strategic 
plans, Council has established a roadmap for Niagara-on-the-Lake’s continued and future success.  

   
 

Kyle Freeborn, CPA, CMA 
Manager of Finance / Treasurer 
July 1, 2019 
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The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Canadian Award for Financial Reporting to the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake again this year for its Annual 
Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program 
was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish high quality financial 
reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing these reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, the contents of which must conform to program 
standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally-accepted accounting 
principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments, and address user needs.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
PROCESSES

Internal Control Management

Management maintains a system of internal 
and administrative controls which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are properly authorized, that 
assets are accounted for and safeguarded, 
and that financial information is relevant and 
reliable.  

External Audit

The role of the external auditor, KPMG LLP, 
is to present an independent opinion on 
the fair presentation of the Town’s financial 
position and operating results, confirming 
that the statements are free from material 
misstatements. It is the responsibility of 
the auditor to advise management and the 
Finance Advisory Committee of any control or 
operational issues that have been identified 
during the course of the audit. 

Financial Statement Preparation

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake management 
is responsible for all information contained 
in the annual Financial Report. The financial 
statements and accompanying notes have been 
prepared using reasonable limits of materiality 
and within the framework of the accounting 
principles and disclosure requirements of the 
CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

Finance Advisory Committee

The Finance Advisory Committee is comprised of 
all members of Council. The Chair and Vice Chair 
are appointed annually by Council. The Finance 
Advisory Committee was established in 2015 to 
monitor the full accounting cycle, from budget 
guidance through to the finalization of the fiscal 
year via oversight of the external audit function.
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2018 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the CPA Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Board.

There are four required schedules to form the consolidated financial statements:

• Statement of financial position
• Statement of operations
• Statement of change in net financial assets
• Statement of cash flows
Together these consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of Town 
activities, how they were financed, and the assets and liabilities of the Town. The information 
reflects the full nature and extent of the Town’s financial affairs similar to a private sector financial 
statement presentation.

The following is a high-level overview of the 2018 financial results for the Town.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial 
position highlights four key indicators that 
taken together describe the financial position 
of the Town:

1. cash resources

2. net financial position calculated as the 
difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities

3. non-financial assets that are normally 
employed for providing services such as 
tangible capital assets

4. accumulated surplus

The Town continues to manage its day-to-
day finances on a cash basis using fund 
accounting but reports in accordance with 
PSAB. Fund balances are no longer reported 
in the consolidated financial statements and 
have been replaced by accumulated surplus. 
The accumulated surplus summarizes the 
Town’s consolidated equity which identifies 
the financial position, including tangible capital 
assets, and financial resources of the Town.

Financial Assets

Financial assets in 2018 were $52.3 million 
(2017 - $53.8 million), a $1.5 million decrease 
over the prior year.  This is mostly due to a 
decrease in cash balances used for operating 
and capital expenditures and to relieve the 
town from liabilities, as well as a decrease in 
notes receivables which are monies the Town 
has collected from Hydro and NRBN loans. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-Financial Assets

The largest component of non-financial assets is 
the Town’s investment in tangible capital assets. 
All Town assets at the end of 2018 have been 
inventoried, valued, and recorded in an asset 
registry for accounting and reporting purposes. 
These assets are used to deliver programs and 
services to Town residents, businesses, and 
visitors.

The net book value of tangible capital assets is 
$187.3 million (2017 - $178.6 million).  Historical 
costs are $267 million (2017 - $253.5 million) 
and total accumulated amortization was $79.8 
million (2017 - $74.8 million), implying that on 
average 29.89% (2017 – 29.5%) of the estimated 
useful life of Town assets have been utilized 
in the delivery of services. Amortization can 
be useful to estimate future capital spending 
requirements with the understanding that asset 
replacement costs may be significantly higher 
than historical costs.

Liabilities

Liabilities in 2018 were $26.9 million (2017 - 
$25.9 million), an increase of $1 million over 
the prior year despite the fact that there was 
a large (20%) reduction in debt from principle 
repayment as well as no new debt issued 
in 2018. The increase is mostly associated 
with accounts payable balances which the 
Town expects to pay within the next year and 
an increase in deferred revenue balances.  
Deferred revenue is payments received 
in advance for services or goods not yet 
delivered.  In the Town’s case a large portion of 
this is made up of Development Charge Funds 
for growth related infrastructure and services.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Accumulated Surplus

The Town’s accumulated surplus is composed of investments in tangible capital assets, reserve 
and reserve funds, and net equity in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. which is offset by unfunded 
and long-term liabilities. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

The consolidated statement of operations 
reports the annual surplus from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement 
shows the cost of providing Town services, 
the revenue recognized in the period and the 
difference between them. 

Revenues

Revenues in 2018 were $38.2 million (2017 
- $35.3 million), an increase of $2.9 million 
over the prior year. This increase is due to 
higher revenues from taxation, user fees, grant 
revenues, deferred revenue recognized, and 
gain on the sale of capital assets which are 
offset slightly by decreases in Niagara-on-the-
Lake Energy Inc. net income and donations. 

Taxation revenues, which accounts for 
property taxes and taxation from other 
governments, was $12.4 million (2017 - $11.8 
million), an increase of $0.6 million over the 
prior year

• Assessment growth for the Town of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake was 2.11% over the 
prior year. 

• Town Council approved a 2018 total 
budget increase of 3.5%. Overall, including 
the Town, Niagara Region, the Province 
of Ontario (for education purposes), and 
the Niagara Health System the typical 
residential property experienced a 2.46% 
increase on their property tax bill.  The 
Town’s Portion amounted to .80%.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

Expenses

Expenses in 2018 were $32 million (2017 - 
$29.9 million), an increase of $2.1 million over 
the prior year. Environment and Transportation 
saw the largest increase (in dollars), while 
Recreation was the only function experiencing a 
decrease in expenses. The remaining functional 
areas experienced increased expenses across 
the board. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   

The consolidated statement of change in net financial assets starts with the annual surplus and 
identifies changes in non-financial assets. This includes tangible capital asset acquisition and 
amortization that will utilize or add to the surplus amount to derive a net change in financial 
assets. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows 
reports changes in cash resulting from 
operations and shows how the Town financed 
its activities during the year and met its cash 
requirements. 

Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview

Although reserves and reserve funds are 
not formally reported directly in the financial 
statements, they are critical to financial 
management. Reserves and reserve fund 
balances form part of the accumulated surplus. 
Refer to note #7 in the financial statements for 
more reserve and reserve fund information. 

Reserves and reserve funds are established 
by Council. These funds are set aside to fund 
capital projects and future obligations. They 
are drawn upon to finance specific initiatives 
as designated by Council to minimize tax rate 
fluctuations due to unanticipated expenditures, 
revenue shortfalls, and ongoing programs. 

Reserve and reserve fund balances at the end 
of 2018 totalled $13.4 million ($12.4 million in 
2017), an increase of $1,000,000 from the prior 
year. The reserve and reserve fund totals do 
not include development charges or unspent 
government grants as these amounts are 
recorded as deferred revenue on the Statement 
of Financial Position. Refer to note #4 in the 
financial statements for more deferred revenue 
information. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of  
The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Corporation of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
(the “Entity”), which comprise:  
 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018; 
 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended; 
 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
 ended; 
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 
 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
 significant accounting policies  
 
(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake as at December 31, 2018 and its consolidated results of operations, and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report.   
 
We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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PMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity‘s financial 
reporting process.  
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  
 
We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
 statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
 procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
 than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
 intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
 design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
 the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 
 internal control.  
 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
 reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
 management. 

 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
 basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
 material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
 significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
 conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
 in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
 if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
 are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
 report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
 continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
 statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
 represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
 fair presentation. 

 
 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
 matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
 findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
 identify during our audit.  

 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business activities within the Group Entity to express an 
opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
May 13, 2019 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 

 

 
 2018 2017 
 

 
Financial assets 

Cash 

 
 
 

$  18,262,180 

 
 
 

$  20,043,087 
Investments 
Taxes receivable 

Current year 

43,026 
 

1,241,090 

42,640 
 

965,611 
Previous years 763,090 693,429 

Accounts receivable 4,829,389 4,787,721 
Debt recoverable from others (note 6) 35,451 40,737 
Note receivable (note 3) 7,624,743 8,478,901 
Long-term investment (note 2) 19,502,263 18,755,744 

 52,301,232 53,807,870 
Financial liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

10,621,816 
 

9,140,859 
Deferred revenue (note 4) 12,719,206 12,594,905 
Post-employment benefits (note 5) 1,175,414 1,116,462 
Net long term liabilities (note 6) 2,431,132 3,047,855 

 26,947,568 25,900,081 

Net financial assets 25,353,664 27,907,789 

 

Non-financial assets 
  

Tangible capital assets (note 13) 187,279,558 178,633,477 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 637,076 519,503 

 
Commitments (note 8) 
Contingent liabilities (note 9) 

187,916,634 179,152,980 

Accumulated surplus (note 7) $ 213,270,298 $ 207,060,769 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the Municipality: 

 
Lord Mayor 

 

 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 

 

 
  Budget 2018 2017 

  (note 12)   
Revenues 

Taxation  $ 12,183,062 $ 12,410,221 $ 11,786,633 
User fees and charges 12,905,679 15,129,117 14,114,544 
Government of Canada grants (note 14) 449,913 1,695,817 1,345,431 
Province of Ontario grants (note 14) 1,203,209 1,547,102 1,478,502 
Other municipality funding (note 14) 99,000 196,255 153,909 
Deferred revenues earned 1,716,489 2,324,739 1,795,008 
Interest and penalties 443,000 342,024 323,552 
Investment income 382,616 638,260 556,820 
Donations 33,000 372,120 419,093 
Contributed assets 114,269 114,269 167,778 
Gain on disposition of tangible capital assets 576,618 576,618 - 
Other  1,822,928 1,568,364 1,449,827 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  
 net income (note 2) - 1,246,519 1,663,472 

Total revenues  31,929,783  38,161,425  35,254,569 
 
Expenses 

General government  3,007,244  2,409,147  2,375,773 
Protection services 3,526,011 3,345,149 3,021,714 
Transportation services 7,240,961 7,349,169 6,765,464 
Environmental services 10,429,917 10,696,416 9,856,149 
Health services 436,479 644,511 564,610 
Recreation 3,409,661 5,403,102 5,542,527 
Planning and development 1,858,961 2,104,402 1,768,481 

Total expenses   29,909,234 31,951,896 29,894,718 
 
Annual surplus  2,020,549 6,209,529 5,359,851 
 
Other comprehensive income of 
 Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  - - (107,457) 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  207,060,769 207,060,769 201,808,375 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $209,081,318 $ 213,270,298 $ 207,060,769 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017 

 

 

   2018  2017 
      
Annual surplus    $ 6,209,529 $ 5,359,851 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets        (14,258,143) (9,716,547) 
Contributed tangible capital assets    (114,269) (167,778) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets    5,621,136  5,326,093 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets    681,813  65,383 
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets     (576,618)  284,096 
Other comprehensive income of 
 Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.     -  (107,457) 
Change in inventories and prepaid expenses     (117,573)  (123,530) 
   (2,554,125) 920,111 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year      27,907,789  26,987,678 
 
Net financial assets, end of year   $ 25,353,664 $ 27,907,789 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
December 31, 2018 with comparative information for 2017 

 

 
  2018 2017 
    
Operations 

 Annual surplus $ 6,209,529 $ 5,359,851 
Items not involving cash:  

Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,621,136 5,326,093 
Contributed assets (114,269) (167,778) 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy net income (1,246,519) (1,663,472) 
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (576,618) 284,096 

  9,893,259 9,138,790 
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Taxes receivable (345,140) (13,203) 
Accounts receivable (41,668) (1,648,994) 
Inventories and prepaid expenses (117,573) (123,530) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,480,957 1,030,677 
Deferred revenue 124,301 619,848 
Post-employment benefits 58,952 (4,684) 

Cash from operations 11,053,088 8,998,904 
 
Capital   

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets  681,813 65,383 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (14,258,143) (9,716,547) 

Cash from capital activities (13,576,330) (9,651,164) 
 
Investing  

Dividend received 500,000 500,000 
Increase in short term investments (386) (42,640) 
Decrease in note receivable 854,158 827,822 

Cash from investing 1,353,772 1,285,182 
 
Financing 

Debt principal repayments (611,437) (590,392) 
Cash from financing (611,437) (590,392) 
 
(Decrease) Increase in cash (1,780,907) 42,530 
 
Cash, beginning of year 20,043,087 20,000,557 
 
Cash, end of year $ 18,262,180 $20,043,087 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the "Town") is a municipality that provides 
municipal services such as fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, library and other general 

government operations. 
 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Town are prepared by management in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”) as recommended by the Public Sector 

Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Town 
are as follows: 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

(i) Consolidated entities: 

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations, 

committees and local boards accountable for the administration of the Town’s financial 
affairs and resources to the Town which are owned or controlled by the Town except for 
the Town’s government business enterprise (Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.), which is 

accounted for on the modified equity basis of accounting as described below. These 
entities and organizations include the Public Library Board. 

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. ("NOTLEI") is accounted for on a 

modified equity basis, consistent with the accounting treatment for government business 
enterprises. Under the modified equity basis, the business enterprise's accounting 
principles are not adjusted to conform with those of the Town, and inter-organizational 

transactions and balances are not eliminated. The Town recognizes its equity interest in 
the annual income or loss of NOTLEI in its Consolidated Statement of Operations with a 
corresponding increase or decrease in its investment asset account. Any dividends that 

the Town may receive from NOTLEI will be reflected as reductions in the investment 
account.  

(ii) Partial-consolidated entities: 

The Niagara District Airport Commission is operated with a joint local board and is 
proportionately consolidated. The Town’s share is 6%. 

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions: 

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations 
of the school boards and the Regional Municipality of Niagara are not reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Trust funds: 

Trust funds and their related operations are not included in these consolidated financial 
statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The Town follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are 
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as 

they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation 
of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets 

during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in 
net financial assets for the year. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable 
expenditures in the acquisition, construction, development and/or betterment of the asset 
required to install the asset at the location. 

Amortization is recorded to reflect the cost, net of anticipated residual value, associated 
with the use of the asset in providing government services on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. Assets under construction are not amortized until the 

asset is available for productive use, at which time amortization commences. Gains and/or 
losses on the disposal of an asset are recorded on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value at 
the date of receipt and are recognized as revenue. Similarly, transfer of assets to third 
parties are removed from tangible capital assets and recorded as an expense equal to the 

net book value of the asset as at the date of the transfer. 

The historical cost of works of art or historical treasures has not been assigned to these 
assets nor disclosed on the consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 

Asset Class   Useful Life (Years) 
 
General Assets: 

Land improvements  5 to 60 
Buildings and fixtures  5 to 50 
Machinery and equipment  5 to 40 
Information technology  2 to 15 
Vehicles   5 to 20 
Other   5 to 50 
 

Infrastructure: 
Linear   10 to 80 
Street lighting   7 to 60 
Other   7 to 50 

 
 

Interest on debt incurred during construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed 

in the statement of operations in the year incurred. Assets under construction are not 
amortized until the asset is available for productive use.  

(ii) Inventories: 

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 
replacement cost. 

(d)  Deferred revenue: 

Deferred revenue represents license, permits, grants and other fees which have been 
collected, but for which the related services or inspections have yet to be performed. These 
amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed. 

(e)  Government transfers: 

Government transfers received are from federal and provincial governments. Government 
transfers are paid to community organizations. Transfers are recognized in the period in which 

the events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, eligibility 
criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made except when, and to 
the extent that, stipulations by the transferor give rise to an obligation that meet the definition 

of a liability. Government transfers that meet the definition of a liability are recognized as 
revenue as the liability is extinguished.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Tax revenue: 
 

Taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, 

the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred. 

(g) Deferred revenue – obligatory reserve funds: 

Deferred revenue – obligatory reserve funds represents development charge contributions, 

payments in lieu of parking and parkland and gas tax, levied or received under the authority of 
federal and provincial legislation and Town by-laws.  These amounts have been collected but 
the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue 

in the fiscal year the services are performed. 

(h) Investment income: 

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding 

government or provincial legislation, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added 
to the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance. 

(i) Other income: 

Other income is recognized as revenue when the service is performed. 

(j)  Investments: 

Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase 

of these investments are amortized over the term of the investments.  When there has been a 
loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written 
down to recognize the loss. 

(k) Post-employment benefits: 

(i) The Town provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.  
These benefits include long-term disability, benefits under the Workplace Safety and 

Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and extended health and dental benefits for early retirees. 

The costs of life insurance, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Act, 
life insurance, and extended health and dental benefits are actuarially determined using 

management’s best estimate of salary escalation, earned days accumulated for certain 
employees payable at retirement, health care cost trends, long term inflation rates and 
discount rates. 

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over 
the periods of service provided by employees, such as service payments and health and 
dental benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits 

method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the 
expected average service life of the employee group.  Any actuarial gains and losses 
related to the past service of employees are amortized over the expected average 

remaining service life of the employee group.

2018 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  | 67



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k)  Post-employment benefits (continued): 

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from 
time to time, such as obligations for workers' compensation and disability benefits for those 
on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period the events occur.  Any 

actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in 
the period they arise. 

(ii) The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario 

Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions, are the employer's 
contributions due to the plan in the period. OMERS has been accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan since it is a multi-employer plan. 

(l)  Note receivable 

The note receivable is valued at cost. Recoverability is assessed annually and a valuation 
allowance is recorded when recoverability is impaired. The note receivable is written off when 

it is no longer recoverable. Recoveries of note receivable previously written off are recognized 
as revenue in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. Note receivable 
with significant concessionary terms, (such as non-interest bearing notes) are accounted for 

as a grant and presented as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  

(m)  Use of estimates: 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PSAS requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include 

assumptions used in estimation provisions for accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial 
valuations of post-employment benefits liability. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

2. Investments in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.: 

Summary financial information is as follows: 

Financial Position: 
  2018  2017 
 
Assets: 

Current $ 5,594,644 $ 6,494,120 
Capital  31,558,760  29,775,011 
Other non-current  6,159,333  5,855,004 
Regulatory balances  823,319  1,068,620 

Total assets and regulatory balances $ 44,136,056 $ 43,192,755 
 
Liabilities: 

Current $ 6,208,393 $ 5,841,389 
Notes payable to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  7,624,743  8,478,901 
Long-term debt  3,762,704  3,319,704 
Other  5,849,837  4,646,639 
Regulatory balances  1,188,525  2,150,787 

Equity  19,501,854 18,755,335 
Total liabilities, regulatory balances and equity $ 44,136,056 $ 43,192,755 

Operations: 

  2018  2017 
 
Revenue $ 29,713,437 $ 30,032,414 
Expenses (including income tax provision) 29,183,879 27,832,849 
Net movement in regulatory balances (net of tax)  716,961  (536,093) 
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances  1,246,519  1,663,472 
Other comprehensive income  -  (107,457) 
Dividend paid to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (500,000)  (500,000) 
Change in investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 746,519 $ 1,056,015 

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake investment represented by: 

  2018  2017 
 
Investment in shares of the Corporation $ 7,054,844 $ 7,054,844 
Accumulated net income, net of dividends received  12,447,419 11,700,900 
Total investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 19,502,263 $ 18,755,744 

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. is represented by 1,001 common shares of the 
company
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

3. Note receivable: 

The notes receivable are comprised of the following: 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Note 1 $ 2,099,635 $ 2,433,659 
Note 2  1,954,706  2,239,035 
Note 3  1,430,402  1,616,207 
Note 4  2,140,000  2,190,000 
 
  $ 7,624,743 $ 8,478,901 
 

Note 1 bears interest at 7.25%, is unsecured and is repayable in the aggregate principal and 
interest of $500,000. Note 2 bears interest at 3%, is due on demand and is repayable in blended 
monthly payments of $29,409. Note 3 bears interest at 3%, is due on demand and is repayable in 

blended monthly payments of $19,640. Note 4 bears interest at 3% and is due on demand. The 
Town has waived its right to demand payment on notes 2 to 4 until January 1, 2020. These notes 
have been postponed in favour of the demand instalment loan owing by NOTLEI. The notes are 

unsecured.  

4. Deferred revenue: 

A requirement of PSAS is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. These 
reserve funds are considered obligatory as Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be 

used and, under certain circumstances, when these funds will be refunded. 

In the case of development charges, revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been 
collected and when the Town has approved the expenditures and used the funds for the capital 

project for which the development charges were raised. These funds have been set aside, as 
required by the Development Charges Act, to support the cost of growth related capital projects 
associated with new development. 

The deferred revenues are made up of the following: 
 
   Externally   
  restricted Revenue  

  2017 inflows earned 2018 
 
Building permit surplus $ 1,562,769 $ 173,906 $ 256,200 $ 1,480,475 
Canada gas tax  41,355  490,506  354,548  177,313 
Cash-in-lieu of parking  386,064  -  29,446  356,618 
Development charges  9,722,904  1,819,796  1,716,489  9,826,211 
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund -  518,451  399,056  119,395 
Recreational land 573,921  75,932  322,604  327,249 
Main Street revitalization -  53,137  -  53,137 
Other deferred 307,892  258,646  187,730  378,808 
  $12,594,905 $ 3,390,374 $ 3,266,073 $ 12,719,206 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

1

5. Employee benefits and other liabilities: 

The Town provides certain employees benefits which will require funding in future periods. These 

benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance ("WSIB") Act, and 
life insurance, extended health, and dental benefits to early retirees. 
 
  2018 2017 
 
Retiree benefits $ 575,424 $ 582,087 
Accrued vacation pay  328,339  270,712 
Accumulated sick leave  40,285  37,992 
Future payments required to WSIB  231,366  225,671 
 
  $ 1,175,414 $ 1,116,462 
 

Information about the Town’s benefit plans is as follows: 

 

  2018 2017 

Accrued benefit obligation:   
 Balance, beginning of year $ 1,063,502 $ 1,075,764 
 Current benefit cost  92,397  (4,799) 
 Interest  27,805  24,531 
 Actuarial loss  153,138  - 
 Benefits paid  (79,332)  (31,994) 

Balance, end of year  1,257,510  1,063,502 
    
Unamortized actuarial (loss) gain  (82,096)  53,140 
  
Liability for benefits $ 1,175,414 $ 1,116,642 
 

Amortization of the actuarial (loss) gain of $18,082 (2017 - $7,758) has been included in expenses 

on the Statement of Operations. 
 
(i) Accumulated Sick Leave 

Under the Town’s sick leave benefit plan, employees can choose either carry forward up to 5 

unused days to the next year, have all unused credits paid out at the end of the year, or any 
combination of the two choices.  Credits are paid out at 50%.  The accrued benefit obligation 
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 were determined by an actuarial 

valuation.  The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 as at December 31, 2017 year-
end.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

(ii) Retiree Benefits 

The Town pays health care, dental, travel and life insurance benefits for early retirees to age 
65. The Town recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which the employees 
rendered the services. The accrued benefit liability and the expense for the year ended 

December 31, 2018 were determined by an actuarial valuation and analysis of changes made 
to plans since the last valuation. The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 for the 
December 31, 2017 year-end.  

(iii) Accrued WSIB 

The Town has elected to be treated as a Schedule 1 employer for the purposes of WSIB where 
a premium is paid to cover the Town's responsibilities under the Workplace Safety and 

Insurance Board Act ("WSIB"). WSIB has provided the Town an estimate of the value of the 
future benefits for which the Town is responsible. 

(iv) Actuarial Assumptions 

The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuations are as follows: 

Interest (discount rate): 

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 4.0% (2017 – 4.5%). 

Inflation: 

Inflation was assumed to be 1.75% (2017 – 2%). 

Medical, dental and travel costs: 

Medical, dental and travel costs are assumed to increase at a rate of 6.75% per year reducing 
by 0.3333% per year to 3.75% in 2027 and to 3.75% per year thereafter. 

Salary escalations: 

Future salary has been assumed to escalate at a rate of 2.75% per year (2017 – 3.0%). 

(v) Pension Agreements 

The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund 

("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit 
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees 
based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2018 was $706,011 (2017 - $639,057) for current 
service and is included as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of operations. 
Employees' contribution to OMERS in 2018 was $706,011 (2017 - $639,057). 

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of 
9% for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $54,900 and at a rate of 
14.6% for earnings greater than the yearly maximum pensionable earnings. 
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

(v) Pension Agreements (continued) 

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit at December 31, 2018 of $4.2 billion (2017 - $5.4 billion) 
based on an actuarial valuation of plan assets. 

6. Net long-term liabilities: 

(a) The balance of net long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial 
position is made up of the following: 

 
  2018 2017 
 
The Town has assumed responsibility for the 

payment of principal and interest charges on 
certain long-term liabilities issued by other 
municipalities.  $ 2,431,132 $ 3,047,855 

Of the long-term liabilities shown above, the  
responsibility for payment of principal and interest 
charges for tile drainage, have been assumed 
by individuals. (35,451) (40,737) 

 
Net long-term liabilities, end of year $ 2,395,681 $ 3,007,118 
 

(b) The long-term liabilities in (a) issued in the name of the municipality have been approved by 

by-law. The annual principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are 
within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing. 

(c) Of the net long-term liabilities reported in (a) of this note, principal payments are as follows: 

 
2019 $ 436,157 
2020 451,604 
2021 232,949 
2022 241,278 
2023 188,116 
Thereafter 845,577 
 $ 2,395,681 

(d) Interest charges on long-term debt in the amount of $122,542 (2017 - $131,490) are included 

on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, classified under the appropriate functional 
expense heading. The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.35% to 10.45% 

payable semiannually.  The long-term liabilities mature at various times up to 2030. 
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1

7. Accumulated surplus: 

  2018 2017 
 
Invested in tangible capital assets $ 182,279,558 $ 178,633,477 
Operating fund  1,713,132  1,387,589 

 
Reserves and reserve funds  13,346,440  12,407,539 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc., net equity  19,502,263  18,755,744 
  216,841,393  211,184,349 
Amounts to be recovered 

Post-employment benefits  (1,175,414)  (1,116,462) 
Net long-term liabilities  (2,395,681)  (3,007,118) 

  (3,571,095)  (4,123,580) 

 $ 213,270,298 $ 207,060,769 
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7. Accumulated surplus (continued): 
 
Reserve and reserve balances: 
 

  2018 2017 

 
Reserves set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Base mapping $ 700 $ 7,000 
Bridges and culverts 75,146 110,837 
Building vehicle and equipment 33,643 24,198 
By-law vehicle and equipment 26,096 46,000 
Capital levy 2,571,414 2,729,881 
Capital variance 53,117 64,310 
Community centre 7,654 60,773 
Contingencies 325,786 325,786 
Corporate studies 277,109 328,620 
Dock area improvement  258,220  391,934 
Donations  54,194 27,131 
Election expenses (3,941) 49,234 
Fleet replacement 359,115 267,079 
Grant and other (13,411) 4,468 
Irrigation 416,680 284,385 
Ontario disabilities 116,875 96,875 
OMB appeals 155,731 200,000 
Parking revenue 1,169,927 1,068,996 
Sidewalk improvements (8,118) - 
Storm water management - 712 
Street lighting 33,619 18,494 
Tax rate stabilization - 150,000 
Training and development 11,857 11,857 
Underfunded capital - (469,171) 
Wastewater capital improvements 2,355,059 1,847,813 
Wastewater rate stabilization 228,428 228,428 
Water capital improvements 4,421,851 4,038,606 
Water rate stabilization 194,486 194,486 
Winter maintenance 85,192 85,192 
Working funds 50,000 100,000 
Total reserves $ 13,256,429 $ 12,293,924 

 
Reserve funds set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Bequest/Garden $ 4,027 $ 3,770 
Library development and computer 21,657 47,890 
Library donations 7,716 5,345 
Recreation enhancement 56,611 56,610 
 90,011 113,615 

Total reserves and reserve funds $ 13,346,440 $ 12,407,539 

 

2018 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  | 75



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

8. Commitments: 

(a) Capital expenditures 

The estimated future capital expenditures based on projects in progress at December 31, 2018 
is approximately $5,515,778 (2017 - $5,577,463) after deducting the expenditures incurred as 
at December 31, 2018.  These projects will be financed by grants, subsidies and long-term 

liabilities in future years. 

(b) Niagara Health System 

 The Town is currently committed to funding $3,500,000 of the local share of the construction 

costs of the Niagara Health System (“NHS”) hospital located in St. Catharines.  The Town has 
approved a plan to fund this commitment through annual tax levies in the years 2011 to 2031.  
The plan is dependent upon future councils approving this levy on an annual basis.  A balance 

of $1,893,993 is owing on this commitment at December 31, 2018 (2017 - $2,181,944) 

9.  Contingent liabilities 

From time to time, the Town is subject to claims and other lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course 

of business, some of which may seek damages in substantial amounts, including punitive or 
extraordinary damages.  In respect of any outstanding claims, the Town believes that insurance 
coverage is adequate and that no material exposure exists on the eventual settlement of such 

litigation, therefore no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements. 

10. Contributions to Joint Board: 

The following contributions were made by the Town to: 

   2018 2017 

Niagara District Airport Commission $ 51,778 $ 42,756 

The Town’s share of the net assets of the Niagara District Airport Commission is approximately 
6%. 

11. Segmented reporting: 

The Town is a lower tier municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.  
Segmented information has been identified based on functional classification as categorized by the 
Financial Information Return. These classifications are as follows: 

(i) General Government:   

The mandate of this functional area is to provide political governance, administrative executive 
management and those expenses and revenues which are corporate in nature and cannot be 

easily apportioned to other departments. Reported in this functional area are departments such 
as Council, Clerks, CAO, Finance, Human Resources, Legal, Information Systems and Capital 
Assets.

2018 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  | 76



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 

 

11. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(ii) Protection services: 

Reported in this functional area are Fire and Building Services. The mandate of Fire Services 
is to provide emergency services through a range of services to protect the lives and property 
of the inhabitants of the Town. The mandate of Building Services is to inform and assist 

customers to ensure safe and orderly development and provide efficient delivery of building 
approvals, inspections and management systems. 

(iii) Transportation services: 

Reported in this functional area are Roads and Works. The mandate for Roads and Works is 
to provide quality road and traffic maintenance and operations to the residents and businesses 
of the Town. This area is also responsible for winter control. 

(iv) Environment services: 

Reported in this functional area are Sanitary, Storm and Water Systems. The mandate is to 
provide a safe and reliable water resource system and is responsible for the maintenance and 

operation of the systems and monitoring and administering environmental programs. 

(v) Health services: 

Reported in this functional area is Cemetery Services.  The mandate is to ensure the benefit 

and protection of each citizen who has purchased or has an interest in internment rights within 
each cemetery. 

(vi) Recreation: 

Reported in the functional area are Parks, Recreation and Culture.  The Parks department is 
responsible for the maintenance, improvement and beautification of various parks as well as 
the planning and construction of new parkland and open space.  The Recreation and Culture 

departments are responsible for the delivery of various related programs and the provision of 
facilities as well as the support of groups and organizations throughout the Municipality. 

(vii) Planning and Development: 

Reported in this functional area are Planning and Development.  Planning creates the policy 
framework and implementation tools required to shape the future of the Town.  Development 
is responsible for ensuring that the Town’s land development standards are achieved on all 

development applications. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly 
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.  The accounting 

policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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11. Segmented reporting (continued): 
 

2018 
        

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  3,814,617 $  1,503,281 $  3,459,225 $  - $  79,135 $  3,109,204 $  444,759 $  12,410,221 

User fees and charges 214,445 778,424 2,209,378 10,421,007 221,652 366,574 917,637 15,129,117 

Government grants 484,100 90,398 950,122 1,387,533 - 506,697 20,324 3,439,174 

Other 2,287,905 512,092 540,464 731,188 -- 1,750,476 - 5,822,125 

Contributed assets 114,269 - - - - - - 114,269 

Government business enterprise 1,246,519 - - - - - - 1,246,519 

Total revenues 8,161,855 2,884,195 7,159,189 12,539,728 300,787 5,732,951 1,382,720 38,161,425 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 2,783,903 1,875,656 2,194,374 907,062 175,894 2,417,476 1,131,211 11,485,576 

Operating materials and supplies 644,417 469,382 1,078,258 530,006 129,417 1,442,252 161,474 4,455,206 

Contracted services 637,996 117,128 1,872,325 5,989,051 1,840 115,662 576,102 9,310,104 

Rents and financial expenses 136,081 - - 27,930 - 8,962 - 172,973 

Interfunctional transfers (2,595,489) 385,614 460,551 1,051,991 30,377 487,882 179,074 - 

External transfers 448,835 - - - 287,951 - 47,573 784,359 

Amortization 324,533 488,157 1,721,030 2,145,190 19,032 916,670 6,524 5,621,136 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - 

Debt service 28,871 9,212 22,631 45,186 - 14,198 2,444 122,542 

Total expenses 2,409,147 3,345,149 7,349,169 10,696,416 644,511 5,403,102 2,104,402 31,951,896 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  5,752,708 $  (460,954) $  (189,980) $  1,843,312 $  (343,724) $  329,849 $  (721,682) $  6,209,529 
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11. Segmented reporting (continued): 
 

2017 
        

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  4,015,323 $  1,408,780 $  3,106,876 $  - $  109,495 $  2,769,417 $  376,742 $  11,786,633 

User fees and charges 205,866 681,935 2,027,615 9,628,027 183,596 356,804 1,030,701 14,114,544 

Government grants 590,168 40,168 1,060,621 562,673 - 673,071 51,141 2,977,842  

Other 4,544,300 - - - - - - 4,544,300 

Contributed assets 167,778 - - - - - - 167,778 

Government business enterprise 1,663,472 - - - - - - 1,663,472 

Total revenues 11,186,907 2,130,883 6,195,112 10,190,700 293,091 3,799,292 1,458,584 35,254,569 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 2,530,127 1,634,305 1,906,734 735,347 152,073 2,213,674 960,303 10,132,563 

Operating materials and supplies 538,193 465,521 977,655 200,502 85,079 1,419,459 271,988 3,958,397 

Contracted services 423,213 111,289 1,852,963 5,767,689 850 552,934 313,627 9,022,565 

Rents and financial expenses 199,524 - - 12,635 - 7,563 - 219,722 

Interfunctional transfers (2,353,820) 343,639 381,670 993,092 22,199 471,564 141,656 - 

Amortization 267,767 449,198 1,622,095 2,090,371 16,458 876,433 3,771 5,326,093 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 284,096 - - - - - - 284,096 

External transfers 456,901 - - - 287,951 900 74,040 819,792 

Debt service 29,772 17,762 24,347 56,513 - - 3,096 131,490 

Total expenses 2,375,773 3,021,714 6,765,464 9,856,149 564,610 5,542,527 1,768,481 29,894,718 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  8,811,134 $  (890,831) $  (570,352) $  334,551 $  (271,519) $  (1,743,235) $  (309,897) $  5,359,851 
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12. Budget data: 

The audited budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the 
2018 operating and capital budgets approved by Council. The chart below reconciles the approved 

budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements. Budgets 
established for tangible capital asset acquisitions are on a project-oriented basis, the costs of which 
may be carried out over one or more years. Where amounts were budgeted for on a project-oriented 

basis, the actual amounts for 2018 were used in order to adjust the budget numbers to reflect the 
same basis of accounting that was used to report the actual results. In addition, to ensure 
comparability of expenses, the allocation of program support costs completed for actual reporting 

was also applied to the budget amounts. 

The chart below reconciles the approved budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. 

  Budget Amount 

Revenue: 
Operating budget as approved    $ 33,045,776 

Add: 
Development charges  1,716,489 
Contributed capital assets  114,269 
Gain on sale of TCA  576,618 
Building Code Act  256,200 
Recreational Land (the Planning Act)  322,604 

Less:    
Transfers from other funds  (3,267,284) 
Principal and dividends from NOTLEI  (834,889) 

Total revenue   31,929,783 

Expenses: 
Operating budget as approved  33,045,776 

Add: 
Amortization     5,621,136 
Employee future benefits  58,952 
Capital projects resulting in operating expenses  282,125 

Less:   
Transfer to reserves, including capital  (8,487,318) 
Debt principal payments  (611,437) 
 

Total expenses   29,909,234 

Annual surplus   $ 2,020,549 
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13.  Tangible capital assets: 
 

(a)  Work in progress: 

Work in progress having a value of $5,147,011 (2017 - $5,379,722) is not depreciated.  
Depreciation of these assets commence when the assets are placed in service. No interest 

was capitalized during the period. 

(b)  Contributed capital assets: 

Contributed capital assets are recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. The 

value of contributed assets during the year is $114,269 (2017 - $167,778). In 2018, parcels of 
land were transferred to the Town which service various developments.  The lands contributed 
provide servicing for storm sewer systems, walkways and trails, and parkland. 

(c)  Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair market value could not be made for a tangible capital asset, the asset 
was recognized at a nominal value. Nominal values totaling $131 have been assigned to 

Buildings, Land, Machinery and Equipment, Land Improvements, and Linear Asset categories. 

(d)  Works of art and historical treasures: 

No works of art or historical treasures are held by the Town. 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2018 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $5,864,649 $5,864,649 $421,094   $1,367   $6,284,376 $                  - $                  - $              - $                  - 6,284,376 

Land improvements  2,764,537 4,663,618 1,956,959 - 6,620,577 1,899,081 219,296 - 2,118,377 4,502,200 

Buildings and fixtures 15,598,328 25,395,533 3,499,311 82,702 28,812,142 9,797,205 705,216 77,351 10,425,070 18,387,072 

Machinery and equipment 3,695,670 6,077,278 1,755,161 36,093 7,796,346 2,381,608 421,776 26,478 2,776,906 5,019,440 

Vehicles 4,282,016 8,530,743 304,600 276,754 8,558,589 4,248,727 578,858 242,656 4,584,929 3,973,660 

Information technology 503,977 1,617,473 273,104 136,846 1,753,731 1,113,496 213,831 135,980 1,191,347 562,384 

Exterior lighting 1,682.672 2,953,533 379,678 2,671 3,330,540 1,270,861 160,434 2,493 1,428,802 1,901,738 

Subtotal:  General assets 34,391,849 55,102,827 8,589,907 536,433 63,156,301 20,710,978 2,299,411 484,958 22,525,431 40,630,870 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  134,587,854 186,508,652 5,915,115 217,618 192,206,149 51,920,798 3,166,296 163,896 54,923,198 137,282,951 

Streetlighting 1,605,109 2,456,355 38,518 - 2,494,873 851,246 71,582 - 922,828 1,572,045 

Other 2,668,943 4,025,629 61,585 - 4,087,214 1,356,686 83,847 - 1,440,533 2,646,681 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  138,861,906 192,990,636 6,015,218 217,618 198,788,236 54,128,730 3,321,725 163,896 57,286,559 141,501,677 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 5,379,722 5,379,722 14,371,661 - 19,751,383 - - - - - 

Internally transferred - - (14,604,372) - (14,604,372) - - - - - 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 5,379,722 5,379,722 (232,711) - 5,147,011 - - - - 5,147,011 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2018 

$178,633,477 $253,473,185  $14,372,414 $754,051 $267,091,548 $74,839,708  $5,621,136 $648,854 $79,811,990  $187,279,558 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2017 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $   5,696,871 $   5,696,871 $  167,778 $               - $    5,864,649 $                  - $                  - $              - $                  - $   5,864,649 

Land improvements  2,879,481 4,638,090 78,411 52,883 4,663,618 1,758,609 193,355 52,883 1,899,081 2,764,537 

Buildings and fixtures 15,348,810 24,816,374 1,097,966 518,807 25,395,533 9,467,564 641,029 311,388 9,797,205 15,598,328 

Machinery and equipment 3,011,839 5,218,139 1,061,441 202,302 6,077,278 2,206,300 350,087 174,779 2,381,608 3,695,670 

Vehicles 3,919,369 7,814,831 897,804 181,892 8,530,743 3,895,462 535,157 181,892 4,248,727 4,282,016 

Information technology 576,063 1,760,716 145,058 288,301 1,617,473 1,184,653 215,197 286,354 1,113,496 503,977 

Exterior lighting 1,499,145 2,637,917 330,177 14,561 2,953,533 1,138,772 145,535 13,446 1,270,861 1,682,672 

Subtotal:  General assets 32,931,578 52,582,938 3,778,635 1,258,746 55,102,827 19,651,360 2,080,360 1,020,742 20,710,978 34,391,849 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  134,859,006 183,852,300 2,927,662 271,310 186,508,652 48,993,294 3,092,576 165,072 51,920,798 134,587,854 

Streetlighting 1,652,698 2,433,205 23,150 - 2,456,355 780,507 70,739 - 851,246 1,605,109 

Other 2,669,486 4,004,305 87,112 65,788 4,025,629 1,334,819 82,418 60,551 1,356,686 2,668,943 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  139,181,190 190,289,810 3,037,924 337,098 192,990,636 51,108,620 3,245,733 225,623 54,128,730 138,861,906 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 2,311,956 2,311,956 9,884,325 - 12,196,281 - - - - - 

Internally transferred - - (6,816,559) - (6,816,559) - - - - - 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 2,311,956 2,311,956 3,067,766 - 5,379,722 - - - - 5,379,722 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2017 

$174,424,724 $ 245,184,704 $9,884,325 $1,595,844 $253,473,185 $ 70,759,980 $   5,326,093 $1,246,365 $ 74,839,708 $178,633,477 
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14. Government transfers: 

Government transfers do not include payment in lieu of taxes received from Federal and Provincial 
governments.  These amounts are included with taxation revenue on the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations: 
 
  Budget 2018 2017 
 
Operating transfers: 

Federal $ 4,000 $ 20,221 $ 16,500 
Provincial 664,758  682,175  776,295 
Upper-Tier/Other Municipalities 99,000  189,948  153,909 
 767,758  892,344  946,704 

 
Capital transfers: 

Federal 445,913  1,675,596  1,328,931 
Provincial 518,451  864,927  702,207 
Upper –Tier/Other Municipalities -  6,307  - 

  964,364  2,546,830  2,031,138 
Total transfers $ 1,732,122  3,439,174 $ 2,977,842 

 
Government transfers paid are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and are 
summarized in Note 11 – Segmented Information under External Transfers. 
 

 
15. Trust funds: 
 

Trust funds administered by the Town amounting to $1,098,730 (2017 - $1,056,860) have not 
been included in these Consolidated financial statements. 
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  Budget 2018 2017 

 
Revenues: 

Development charges $ - $ 60,189 $ 56,887 
Municipal grant 686,377 686,377 622,539 
Donations 1,000 8,465 162,533 
Provincial grants 28,158 34,824 250,078 
Miscellaneous 27,770 36,104 19,998 
Other grants 4,000 10,673 10,911 
 747,305 836,634 1,122,946 

 
Expenditures: 

Amortization - 121,061 105,551 
Insurance 7,570  7,427  6,493 
Licensing and computer support 11,500 16,327 12,151 
Memberships 1,800 2,078 1,450 
General library expenses 25,100 27,804 20,200 
Office supplies 35,800 50,105 56,149 
Professional development 5,500 5,359 4,677 
Professional fees 1,000 6,709 1,146 
Program expenditures 7,500 12,730 9,239 
Public relations 3,000 2,838 2,153 
Rent 60,000 60,000 60,000 
Telephone 2,050 2,819 2,795 
Wage and benefits 579,885 605,740 520,809 
Workshops  3,000 1,376 3,328 
 743,705 922,373 806,141 

Annual (deficit) surplus 3,600 (85,739) 316,805 
Add:  Amortization of tangible capital assets - 121,061 105,551 
Less:  Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (140,613) (909,377) 

Transfers to reserve fund 18,500 18,915 384,767 
Adjusted annual (deficit) surplus $ 22,100 $ (86,376) $ (102,254) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of The 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

  

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the trust funds of The 
Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the “Entity”), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018,  
 the statement of operations for the year then ended,  
 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
 and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 
 
(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its results of 
operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion.  Our conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.   

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
May 13, 2019201
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Financial Position – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care & Preneeds 2018 2017 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Assets 

 Cash   $ 965,015 $ 150,692 $1,115,707 $ 1,063,362 

Liabilities 

 Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 17,265 (288) 16,977 6,502 
  $ 947,750 $ 150,980 $1,098,730 $ 1,056,860 

 
Fund Balances 

Fund balances $ 947,750 $ 150,980 $1,098,730 $ 1,056,860 

 $ 947,750 $ 150,980 $1,098,730 $ 1,056,860 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Operations – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care &  Preneeds 2018 2017 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 908,724 $ 148,136 $1,056,860 $ 1,022,564 
 
Receipts: 
 Care & maintenance agreements 39,026  -   39,026 32,564 
 Interest earned     17,892  2,844  20,736  11,732 
      56,918  2,844  59,762  44,296 
 
Expenditures:  
 Interest transferred to:  

Cemetery maintenance   17,892  -  17,892  10,000 
      17,892  -  17,892  10,000 
 
Excess of receipts over expenditures   39,026  2,844  41,870  34,296 

Fund balance, end of year $ 947,750 $ 150,980 $1,098,730 $ 1,056,860 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Cash Flows – Trust Funds 
 
December 31, 2018 with comparative information for 2017 
 
  2018 2017 
    
Operations: 
 Excess of receipts over expenditures $ 41,870 $ 34,296 
 
Sources (Uses): 

 Change in due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  10,475  21,513 
 10,475 21,513 

 
Increase in cash 52,345 55,809 
 
Cash, beginning of year 1,063,362 1,007,553 
 
Cash, end of year $ 1,115,707 $ 1,063,362 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Trust Funds Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake trust funds are 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
(“PSAS”) established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada. 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

(i) Receipts and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(ii) The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and 

measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result 
of the receipt of goods and services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2018 2017 2016                    2015                    2014                    2013                    

General Statistics

Households
1

7,069.00                                        6,919                               7,090                   6,446                   6,115                   5,969                   

Population
2

17,511.00                                      17,511                             17,511                 15,400                 15,400                 15,400                 

Municipal Workforce Profile3

Full-time Positions 96.00                                             93 88                        87                        81                        83                        
Contract Employees 107.00                                           86 77                        75                        78                        78                        

Number of Lane Kilometres in Road System
3

475.00                                           475 472                      472                      466                      461                      

Total Hectares in the Town3
13,283.00                                      13283 13,283                 13,283                 13,283                 13,283                 

Number of Building Permits Issued
3

530 568 616                      727                      766                      538                      

Total Value of Building Permits Issued3
96,640,209.00                              $133,955,727 $101,199,425 $126,931,702 $150,906,774 $184,947,270

Data Sources 

1 Municipal Property Assessment Corportation (MPAC)

2 Statistics Canada, 2016 Census

3 Town Records
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2018 2017 2016                    2015                    2014                    2013                    

Taxation Statistics

Taxable Assessment
1

Residential 3,719,402,387                            3,442,759,833                 3,241,162,167     3,017,517,661     2,832,095,981     2,681,231,058     
Multi-Residential 16,526,990                                 15,947,775                      15,706,000          12,955,555          16,259,138          14,263,765          
Commercial 699,819,604                               652,795,316                    611,146,767        577,696,514        417,325,855        387,610,987        
Industrial 45,697,981                                 42,496,131                      39,659,308          36,431,133          35,724,143          32,015,094          
Farmland 445,463,201                               401,259,800                    333,741,525        348,733,781        332,748,056        320,372,663        
Pipeline 17,390,000                                 16,777,750                      16,111,000          15,748,713          15,145,000          14,784,250          
Managed Forests 797,000                                      666,225                           541,800               512,525               483,250               453,975               

4,945,097,163                            4,572,702,830                 4,258,068,567     4,009,595,882     3,649,781,423     3,450,731,792     

Tax Levy
2

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 11,784,195.00                              11,179,872                      10,668,156          10,196,916          9,386,053            8,957,194            
Niagara Region 31,575,471.00                              30,144,564                      28,840,572          27,575,068          25,402,444          23,437,945          
Education 14,734,824.00                              14,371,523                      14,168,239          13,698,314          12,627,923          11,663,229          

58,094,490                                 55,695,959                      53,676,967          51,470,298          47,416,420          44,058,368          

Current Year's Tax Collections2
56,520,320.00                              53,796,498                      51,332,868          49,598,989          44,804,309          41,330,270          

Current Year's Tax Collections as a 

Percentage of Current Tax Levy 97.3% 96.6% 95.6% 96.4% 94.5% 93.8%

Total Tax Arrears2
2,004,180.00                                 1,659,040                        1,645,837            2,473,184            2,763,391            3,120,239            

Total Tax Arrears as a Percentage of

Current Tax Levy 3.4% 3.0% 3.1% 4.8% 5.8% 7.1%

Top Ten Largest Corporate Property Taxpayers in 20182

Owner Assessment Value $
The Outlet Collection (Niagara) Limited 206,006,293        
Lais Hotel Properties Limited 93,882,920          
Niagara Falls Bridge Commission 30,965,000          
White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated 20,414,000          
Pleasant Manor Retirement Village 19,165,000          
Celca Holdings Limited 13,500,500          
Xinjiade Canada Inc. 9,822,000            
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 9,352,257            
Murlee Holdings Limited 8,791,001            
Finer Space Trust Inc. 8,672,000            

Top Ten Assessment Total 420,570,971        

% of Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 55.1%
% of Total Taxable Assessment 8.5%

Total Residential Assessment1 4,182,189,578     
Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment

1 762,907,585        

Total Taxable Assessment1 4,945,097,163     

Data Sources

1 Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC)

2 Town Records

2018 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  | 94



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2018 2017 2016                    2015                    2014                    2013                    

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Financial Assets

Cash 18,262,180.00                              20,043,087                      20,000,557 17,945,508 22,823,779          20,868,166          
Short-term investments 43,026.00                                      42,640                             
Taxes receivable 2,004,180.00                                 1,659,040                        1,645,837 2,473,184 2,763,391            3,120,239            
Accounts receivable 4,829,389.00                                 4,787,721                        3,138,727 3,248,553 3,065,014            2,308,944            
Debt recoverable from others 35,451.00                                      40,737                             51,596 66,979 40,235                 53,787                 
Note receivable 7,624,743.00                                 8,478,901                        9,306,723 7,788,957 3,304,613            3,800,929            
Long-term investment 19,502,263.00                              18,755,744                      17,699,729 17,188,850 16,957,381          14,737,612          

Total financial assets 52,301,232 53,807,870 51,843,169 48,712,031 48,954,413          44,889,677          

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,621,816.00                              9,140,858                        8,110,182 9,071,102 9,045,037            7,896,257            
Lease purchase agreements -                                   -                       -                       -                       18,510                 
Deferred revenue 12,719,206.00                              12,594,905                      11,975,057 10,941,704 9,457,952            8,577,623            
Post-employment benefits 1,175,414.00                                 1,116,462                        1,121,146 1,063,097 1,040,487            1,051,535            
Net long-term liabilities 2,431,132.00                                 3,047,855                        3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945            3,777,782            

Total financial liabilities 26,947,568                                 25,900,080                      24,855,490 25,310,370 22,777,421          21,321,707          

Net financial assets (net debt) 25,353,664 27,907,790 26,987,679 23,401,661 26,176,992          23,567,970          

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 187,279,558.00                            178,633,477                    174,424,724 174,016,612 168,286,717        165,296,055        
Inventories and prepaid 637,076.00                                    519,503                           395,973 413,327 198,754               319,708               

Total non-financial assets 187,916,634                               179,152,980                    174,820,697 174,429,939 168,485,471        165,615,763        

Accumulated surplus 213,270,298 207,060,769 201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463        189,183,733        
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2018 2017 2016                    2015                    2014                    2013                    

Statement of Financial Position Statistics

Tangible Capital Asset Additions 14,258,141.00                              9,716,547                        6,894,243 10,457,783 7,596,665            6,449,237            

Net Long-term Liabilities 2,431,132.00                                 3,047,855                        3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945            3,777,782            
Per Capita $138.83 $174.05 $208.39 $274.97 $210.00 $245.31
Percentage of Tax Levy 4.18% 5.47% 6.80% 8.23% 6.82% 8.57%

Gross Debt

Supported by Taxes 1,145,760 1,245,520                        1,343,840 1,440,720 193,160               215,160               
Supported by Non-tax Revenue 1,285,372 1,802,335                        2,305,266 2,793,747 3,040,785            3,562,622            
Net Long-term Liabilities 2,431,132 3,047,855 3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945            3,777,782            

Debt Charges for the Year

Principal Payments 611,437.00                                    590,393                           569,978 555,129 530,285               816,943               
Interest Charges 120,098.00                                    128,393                           149,305 127,307 130,785               164,519               

Annual Debt Repayment Limit 7,250,631.00                                 6,990,743                        5,925,006 5,440,877 4,383,778            3,714,669            

Accumulated Surplus 213,270,298.00                            207,060,769                    201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463        189,183,733        
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2018 2017 2016                    2015                    2014                    2013                    

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Revenue by Source

Taxation 12,410,220.97                              11,786,633                      11,338,711 10,644,585 9,821,497            9,392,979            
User fees and charges 15,129,117.00                              14,114,544                      12,746,106 11,549,046 11,063,963          10,887,069          
Government of Canada 1,695,817.00                                 1,345,431                        474,196 451,143 705,787               585,464               
Province of Ontario 1,547,102.00                                 1,478,502                        896,734 1,242,019 968,943               1,093,259            
Other municipal funding 196,255.00                                    153,909                           188,485 320,197 303,007               255,769               
Development levies earned 2,324,739.00                                 1,795,008                        1,997,029 2,196,397 2,219,911            1,935,219            
Interest and penalties 342,024.00                                    323,552                           376,336 424,426 463,989               591,799               
Investment income 638,260.00                                    556,820                           531,874 478,637 469,434               536,132               
Donations 372,120.00                                    419,093                           197,592 66,089 301,010               196,570               
Miscellaneous income/other 2,259,251.00                                 1,617,605                        2,067,104 1,768,916 1,713,544            1,586,381            
NOTLEI net income 1,246,519.00                                 1,663,472                        1,010,879 658,472 2,757,468            993,368               

Total revenue by source 38,161,425 35,254,569 31,825,046 29,799,927 30,788,553          28,054,009          

Expense by Function 

General Government 2,409,148                                      2,375,773                        2,512,972 2,377,281 2,123,697            1,548,390            
Protection 3,345,149.00                                 3,021,714                        2,717,109 2,810,677 2,730,652            2,722,289            
Transportation 7,349,169.00                                 6,765,464                        6,154,940 5,591,326 5,201,128            5,362,607            
Environment 10,696,416.00                              9,856,149                        9,716,949 9,425,157 8,917,286            8,872,261            
Health 644,510.00                                    564,610                           539,679 608,744 620,431               646,656               
Recreation 5,403,102.00                                 5,542,527                        4,734,811 4,780,295 4,649,966            4,250,977            
Planning and Development 2,104,402.00                                 1,768,481                        1,471,811 1,110,307 1,066,663            1,139,544            

Total expenses by function 31,951,896                                 29,894,718                      27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823          24,542,724          

Annual Surplus 6,209,529.00                                 5,359,851                        3,976,775 3,169,137 5,478,730            3,511,285            
Other Comprehensive Income NOTLEI (107,457)                          
Accumulated surplus, beginning 207,060,769.00                            201,808,375                    197,831,600 194,662,463 189,183,733        185,672,448        
Accumulated surplus, ending 213,270,298                               207,060,769                    201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463        189,183,733        

Analysis of Expenses by Object

Salaries and wages 11,485,577.00                              10,132,563                      9,979,539 9,245,742 9,078,851            8,981,465            
Operating materials and supplies 4,455,206.00                                 3,958,395                        4,289,480 4,177,896 3,391,073            3,716,716            
Contracted services 9,310,104.00                                 9,022,565                        7,295,951 7,038,626 6,946,031            6,203,065            
Rents and financial expenses 172,972.97                                    503,821                           286,457 339,487 259,844               203,013               
External transfers 784,358.00                                    819,792                           700,995 623,140 763,989               673,195               
Amortization 5,621,136.00                                 5,326,092                        5,142,525 4,908,318 4,701,656            4,596,245            
Loss on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets -                                                  -                       241,013 34,367                 -                       
Debt service 122,542.00                                    131,490                           153,324 129,565 134,012               169,025               

Total expenses by object 31,951,896 29,894,718 27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823          24,542,724          
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Message from Fire Chief 
Rob Grimwood 

 
 
 
 

It is an honour and a pleasure to present the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & 
Emergency Services Annual Report to Council, residents and staff. The provision 
of Emergency Services is a complex and continually evolving field. Looking back 
on 2018, I am proud of the hard work of our staff and the many accomplishments 
that we have achieved. It requires dedicated staff who are willing to adapt to 
changes, work hard and continuously train to meet the needs of the community. 

This annual report will provide you with a sense of our accomplishments in 2018 
and show the level of dedication our department has towards serving our 
community. Many of these things would not be possible without the fine work of 
our staff, but also without the continued support from Council and the Senior 
Management Team of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

This report provides insight into the time, effort and dedication provided to the 
community by Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services in 2018. The 
report outlines call volumes, fire prevention statistics, public education efforts, 
professional development achievements and many other significant strides that 
were made over the past year. 

The Fire & Emergency Services Department strives to provide the residents and 
visitors of Niagara-on-the-Lake with prompt, professional and compassionate 
service from well trained and well-equipped firefighters. We are committed to our 
role of responding to assist people during their time of need and maintain our 
commitment to provide a high-level of service. 

For those who have an opportunity to read this report, I hope it provides a 
glimpse into the daily operations of our Department. It is always an honour and a 
privilege to open the doors of our organization to the people we serve. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Grimwood 
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2018 Achievements & Accomplishments 

1. Recruited and trained 14 new firefighters. 

2. Placed a new light rescue squad into service at Station 1. 

3. Successfully certified 81 firefighters and officers through the Ontario Fire Marshals Office 
Academic Standards and Evaluation Unit in various NFPA standards. 

4. Exceeded Fire Prevention Division targets for conducting fire safety inspections and completed 
fire safety inspections and witnessed fire drills at all care occupancies. 

5. Replaced the main communication system antenna on the Virgil water tower, the first step 
towards the replacement and modernization of the fire communication radio system. 

6. Implemented a new records management system for training records, fire safety inspections 
and other fire prevention activities. 

7. Ordered a new tanker truck which will be delivered in 2019. 

8. Initiated the first phase of a project to replace old fire hoses, nozzles and firefighting 
appliances which resulted in the implementation of the use of lightweight fire attack hose and 
smooth bore nozzles which will result in improved fire suppression operations. 

9. Achieved compliance with Emergency Management Ontario’s municipal requirements, 

including running a successful emergency exercise.  

10. Coordinated a successful Residential Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Inspection 
Program. 

11. Completed the replacement of a staff vehicle, the addition of on-board supplied air on Ladder 
1, the refurbishment of Pumper 2A and the addition of a generator cord reel on Pumper 4. 

12. Completed the purchase/replacement of firefighting foam and fire extinguishers so that all fire 
apparatus are now equipped with the proper type and quantity of compliant fire extinguishers 
and each front-line pumper is equipped to be able to utilize firefighting foam. 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

ADMINISTRATION 

 
 

• Capital & Operating Budget Preparation and Management 
 

• Purchasing 
 

• Council Reporting 
 

• Statistic & Data Preparation and Reporting 
 

• Health & Safety 
 

• Compliance with Standards and Regulations 
 

• Recruitment and Personnel Management 
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2018 Fire Department Response Statistics 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to a total of 682 calls in 2018. This was 
an increase of 28 calls from 2017.   

The graph below outlines the total call volume over the last 5 years: 
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Call Types 

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses that Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & 
Emergency Services responded to in 2018 by type of call. 

 

*Other: Vehicle Fires-17 
  Arching Hydro Lines-13 
  Garbage Container/Rubbish Fires-4 
  Elevator Rescues-3 
  Water/Ice Rescue – 2 
  Rope Rescues-0  

Medical Assistance Calls
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Motor Vehicle 
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Fire Alarm Activations
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Carbon Monoxide 
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Structure Fires
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Hazardous 
Materials 

Emergencies
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Natural Gas 
Emergencies

3%

Grass/Brush Fires
3%

Burning Complaints
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Public 
Assistance
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Other
5%

2018 INCIDENTS BY TYPE
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Station Responses 

There were 999 total responses by Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters in 2018. Several of the 682 calls 
required the response of more than one station. These additional responses include the need for 
multiple station responses to complex buildings, highway accidents, structure fires and requests for 
additional personnel. 

The below chart shows the distribution of response by station with the breakdown of in-district calls, 
out-of-district calls and highway calls.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Station 1 Station 2 Station 3 Station 4 Station 5

Total 312 161 267 96 163

In District Calls 262 68 161 45 100

Out of District Calls 50 56 106 24 26
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Structure Fires 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to 9 structure fires in 2018.  

These included: 

• Small fire in a commercial building on Niagara Stone Road on March 30th (minor damage) 
• Kitchen fire in a residential dwelling on Carlton Street on April 26th (significant damage) 
• Small electrical fire in a residential dwelling on Line 6 on May 28th (minor damage) 
• Structure fire in a mixed commercial/residential building on Market Street on May 30th 

(significant damage) 
• House fire in a residential dwelling on Line 1 on June 30th (significant damage) 
• Appliance fire in a residential dwelling on Victoria Street on July 20th (minor damage) 
• Structure fire in a commercial building on Mississauga Street on August 13th (significant 

damage) 
• Appliance fire in a residential dwelling on Village Road on September 4th (minor damage) 
• House fire in a residential dwelling (with spread to two neighbouring houses) on Annmarie 

Drive on September 16th (significant damage) 
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Significant Incidents 

In addition to the structure fires referenced above, Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services 
responded to several other significant incidents in 2018, including: 

• A motor vehicle accident on January 11th on Concession 3 near Line 5 where a vehicle 
entered a large drainage ditch filled with water with an occupant trapped inside the vehicle. 

• Smoke in a commercial building on Queen Street on January 26th caused by a small fire in the 
building’s HVAC system. 

• Smoke in a nursing home in the Old Town on January 28th caused by curtains coming into 
contact with a heater. 

• A motor vehicle accident on the QEW near Glendale on February 14th where an occupant of 
the vehicle required extrication. 

• A motor vehicle accident on March 21st at Creek Road and Line 3 where the vehicle 
occupants were trapped and had to be extricated from the vehicle. 

• A fire in a large field containing several vehicles and pieces of farm equipment that was 
threatening a nearby house on March 24th. 

• A motor vehicle accident on March 29th on Carlton Street near McNab Road where a vehicle 
entered a ditch full of water and the vehicle occupant had to be removed from the vehicle. 

• A plane crash at Niagara District Airport on March 31st where a plane that was experiencing 
engine failure crashed prior to reaching the runway. 

• A motor vehicle accident on April 12th at Creek Road and Line 3 where the vehicle occupants 
were trapped and had to be extricated from the vehicle. 

• A chimney fire at a house on Delater Street on April 15th. 
• A vehicle fire threatening a nearby barn on Line 2 on May 29th that was quickly extinguished 

by firefighters. 
• A motorcycle accident on the Niagara River Parkway on June 20th that resulted in a fatality. 
• Smoke in a long-term care home as a result of a cooking fire on July 1st that required one 

occupant of the building to be rescued from their unit. 
• The rescue of an elderly male from Four-Mile Creek in Virgil on August 1st. 
• A motor vehicle accident on August 9th on Creek Road near Line 7 where an occupant of the 

vehicle was trapped and had to be extricated from the vehicle. 
• A motor vehicle accident on August 10th on York Road near Concession 2 where the vehicle 

occupant was trapped and had to be extricated from the vehicle. 
• A hazardous materials emergency at a hotel on Taylor Road on August 15th that resulted in 

one person being transported to hospital with inhalation injuries. 
• A motorcycle accident resulting in serious injuries at Mary Street and Mississauga Street on 

October 10th. 
• A vehicle fire threatening a house on November 6th on Southgate Circle.  
• Smoke in several stores at the Outlet Collection of Niagara on November 6th as a result of a 

hydro emergency. 
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Lavender Festival Fire 

On July 8th at approximately 3:40 PM Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services was 
dispatched to what was initially reported as a hay bale on fire on Niagara Stone Road in a field being 
used for parking for the Lavender Festival. Further 911 calls then indicated that there was a vehicle 
on fire, and then reports of multiple vehicles on fire.  

This call was very quickly upgraded and ultimately became one of the largest and most challenging 
calls our department has faced. On the arrival of the fire department there were several cars on fire 
with the fire very rapidly spreading from vehicle to vehicle, as well as spreading underneath the car 
along a freshly cut field. There were hundreds of cars parked in this field and several hundred people 
attempting to access them. 

A very fast and aggressive fire attack was initiated in an attempt to cut the fire off from spreading 
towards the middle of the parking area…while at the same time working to prevent civilian injuries. 
Firefighters worked extremely hard in very challenging conditions to gain control of the fire, but in the 
end 34 vehicles were damaged. There were no injuries as a result of the actions taken by firefighters. 

A total of 50 firefighters responded to the call in 3 staff vehicles, 5 pumpers, 2 tankers, 1 ladder truck, 
1 heavy rescue, 1 light rescue squad and 1 support unit. The fire department remained on scene for 
almost 8 hours with a total of almost 240 firefighter hours committed to the incident. The total damage 
estimate for this incident ended up exceeding $2,000,000. 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT & TRAINING 

 
 

• Recruit Firefighter Training 
 

• Officer Development Training 
 

• Specialized Rescue Training 
 

• Firefighter Curriculum Training 
 

• Patient Care Training 
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Professional Development and Training 

The Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Training Division is coordinated by a 
Training Officer and a training committee with representatives from each station. The primary focus 
of the Training Division is to develop and provide the highest quality training and education to the 
members of Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services, from new recruits to the District 
Chiefs. Compliance with provincial standards and regulations, as well as department operating 
guidelines and policies, is met by providing the following training and programs: 
 

• Fire Suppression 
• Water Supply 
• Apparatus Operations 
• Ventilation 
• Search and Rescue 
• Forcible Entry 
• Accident Victim Extrication 
• Water and Ice Rescue 
• Firefighter Survival and Rescue (Rapid Intervention Teams) 
• Incident Command 
• Hazardous Materials 
• DZ Driver Licensing/Driver Training 
• Officer Development               
• Recruit Training 
• Patient Care 
• Live Fire Training 
• Rope Rescue 

 
Training Is Supposed to be Hard. 

 

   

That way when the call comes the 

results are lives and property saved, 

SAFELY, EFFICIENTLY 

and without any HESITATION 

because your 

TRAINING HAS PREPARED YOU! 

 
The Training Division continues to research new equipment, methods, technology and programs 
that will improve departmental functions and ensure the safety of all personnel. Routine tasks for 
the Training Division include: 
 

• Development of new training programs  
• Revision of the existing training curriculum and programs 
• Development of instructor skills 
• Acquisition of new training materials 
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Professional Development and Training 

Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters train on a weekly basis within their stations in accordance with a 
formal training curriculum for the purposes of maintaining skills. In 2018, volunteer firefighters 
completed over 9,700 hours of this weekly training. 
 
In addition to the weekly training, in 2018 a recruit training program was run that trained 14 new 
recruit firefighters. This training involved each recruit completing approximately 150 hours of 
training…a total of approximately 2,100 hours. This training was instructed by in-house instructors 
who committed over 600 hours of instruction…a total of over 2,700 hours of training. 
 
Additional training is held on other nights and weekends. This training includes specialized rescue 
training, officer development and other specialized courses.  
 
In 2018 volunteer firefighters completed over 2,600 hours of additional training. 
 
Some additional training courses included: 

• Incident Command Training – 12 people trained/84 hours 
• Emergency Patient Care Training – 17 people trained/128 hours 
• Search & Rescue/Hose Deployment Training – 10 people trained/79 hours 
• Live Fire Training – 29 firefighters trained/174 hours 
• High Angle Rescue Team Training – 20 team members/302 hours of training  
• Officer Reporting Training – 21 people trained/27 hours 
• Health & Safety Level 1 Certification – 5 people trained/105 hours 
• Health & Safety Level 2 Certification – 6 people trained/84 hours 
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NFPA Certifications 

In 2018 Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services undertook the initiative to begin pursuing 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) certification for firefighters, fire officers, hazardous 
materials response and apparatus operators. 

NFPA 1001 Firefighter 

The NFPA 1001 Firefighter standard has two components, level 1 and level 2. There were 12 
Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters who had previously completed this certification on their own. 
Additionally, firefighters with 8 or more years of experience and the requisite training were eligible to 
apply for equivalency. There was a total of 37 firefighters who were awarded NFPA 1001 Firefighter 
level 1 and 2 equivalency through this grandfathering process. 

Further, in 2018 there were 3 separate testing sessions held in June, September and November, with 
the appropriate training held in advance of the testing. As a result of these testing sessions there 
were 28 firefighters who were successful with all NFPA firefighter level 1 and 2 written and practical 
testing. 

By the end of 2018, 40 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters had completed full certification and 37 had 
completed equivalency resulting in 77 of 108 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters meeting this 
internationally recognized standard. 

NFPA 1021 Fire Officer 

The NFPA 1021 Fire Officer standard has four components, level 1, level 2, level 3 and level 4. 
Officers with 8 or more years of experience at an officer rank, and the requisite training, were eligible 
to apply for equivalency. There were a total of 12 officers who were awarded NFPA 1021 Fire Officer 
level 1 equivalency through this grandfathering process. 

Further, in 2018 an additional 18 officers and firefighters completed a two-weekend course which 
culminated with the completion of NFPA Fire Officer level 1 testing. As a result of this testing, the 18 
firefighters and officers were all successful with the NFPA Fire Officer level 1 testing. 

By the end of 2018, 18 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters and officers had completed full certification 
and 12 had completed equivalency resulting in 30 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters and officers 
meeting this internationally recognized standard. 

NFPA 1072 Hazardous Materials 

The NFPA 1072 Hazardous Materials standard has three levels; awareness, operations and 
technician. There is no equivalency available for this standard and certification to the operations level 
is required as a co-requisite for a firefighter to be awarded their full NFPA Firefighter certification. 
There were 12 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters who had previously completed this certification on 
their own.  
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In the fall of 2018, 15 firefighters completed a two-weekend course which culminated with the 
completion of NFPA 1072 hazardous materials awareness and operations level testing. As a result of 
this testing, the 15 firefighters were all successful with the NFPA hazardous materials testing. 

By the end of 2018, 27 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters had completed full certification of this 
internationally recognized standard. 

NFPA 1002 Apparatus Operator 

The NFPA 1002 Apparatus Operator certification ensures a firefighter has the requisite skills to 
competently operate a fire pump. There is no equivalency available for this standard and there were 
no firefighters who had previously completed this certification as it was not previously offered.  

In 2018 there were two separate courses held where a total of 20 firefighters completed a one 
weekend course which culminated with the completion of NFPA 1002 Apparatus Operator testing. As 
a result of this testing, the 20 firefighters were all successful with the NFPA Apparatus Operator 
testing. 

By the end of 2018, 20 Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters had completed full certification of this 
internationally recognized standard.  
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

FIRE PREVENTION 

 
 

• Enforcement of the Ontario Fire Code  
 

• Public Fire Safety Education 
 

• Fire Safety Inspections 
 

• Fire Investigations 
 

• Fire Safety Plan Reviews 
 

• Plans Examinations 
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Fire Prevention Division 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Fire Prevention Division is comprised of full-time 
Fire Prevention Officer Jay Plato and part-time Fire Inspector & Public Educator Andrew Allan. They 
are assisted by volunteer firefighters who dedicate their time to assisting with fire prevention and 
public fire safety education programs. 

The Fire Prevention Division is responsible for the following: 

• Conducting fire safety inspections and ensuring compliance with the Ontario Fire Code 
• Initiating the prosecution of Ontario Fire Code offences 
• Reviewing and approving fire safety plans 
• Reviewing and approving planning & development applications 
• Reviewing and approving special events 
• Providing public fire safety education 
• Coordinating pre-incident planning and building familiarization 
• Conducting investigations into the cause & origin of fires 

 

Fire Prevention Activities 

In 2018 the Fire Prevention Division accomplished the following: 

• Completed 326 fire safety inspections & 84 re-inspections for a total of 410 fire safety 
inspections 

• Issued 106 inspection orders regarding Ontario Fire Code violations 
• Reviewed 176 Special Event Applications 
• Approved the issuing of 50 Special Occasion Permits 
• Completed 90 Planning & Development application reviews (includes subdivision and site plan 

application reviews) 
• Completed 10 building construction plan reviews 
• Reviewed and approved 26 fire safety plans 
• Conducted 27 public fire safety education events 
• Conducted 11 witnessed fire drills 
• Conducted 9 fire extinguisher training sessions  
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Fire Safety Inspections 

In 2018 the Fire Prevention Division completed 326 inspections and 84 re-inspections for a total of 
410 fire safety inspections. These inspections included requests from property owners, complaints, 
and inspections that were initiated by the fire department.  

From the inspections completed, 106 properties were issued inspection orders requiring work to be 
done to become compliant with the Ontario Fire Code.  

 

Public Fire Safety Education 

Fire Prevention Officer Jay Plato and Fire Inspector & Public Educator Andrew Allan were assisted by 
a pool of volunteer firefighters who dedicated their time to assisting with the delivery of public fire 
safety education programs. 

These programs include, but are not limited to, school and community fire safety presentations, the 
delivery of fire extinguisher training, conducting staff training at businesses and vulnerable 
occupancies, distributing public fire safety education materials and Fire Prevention Week activities. 
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Residential Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm Inspection Program 

The Fire Prevention Division conducted a Residential Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Inspection 
Program where volunteer firefighters went door-to-door checking for working smoke and carbon 
monoxide alarms and communicating the importance of maintaining working smoke and carbon 
monoxide alarms.  

The program was a success with 518 homes visited, 269 homes inspected and 33 smoke or carbon 
monoxide alarms installed where they were missing or not working. 

Providing fire safety public education to the residents of Niagara-on-the-Lake is the first step in fire 
prevention.    

 

 

A huge thank you to Penner Home Hardware Building Centre for sponsoring the Residential Smoke 
and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Inspection Program.  
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

FLEET, FACILITIES & EQUIPMENT 

 
• Purchasing, Maintaining and Repairing Apparatus 

 

• Equipment Purchases, Maintenance and Repair 
 

• Maintaining Fire Stations 
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Fleet 

Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller is responsible for the care, maintenance, testing and management of all 
apparatus. Under his direction, stations are responsible for ensuring that all vehicle and equipment 
checks are carried out to ensure a state of readiness in the event of an emergency call.   
 
In addition, there is the responsibility of annually ensuring that:  

• All mandatory Ministry of Transportation inspections are completed on schedule 
• Ground & aerial ladder inspections and testing are conducted on both aerial devices 
• Pump and ground ladder testing are completed on all pumper trucks 
• All fire suppression vehicles are serviced on schedule 
• All staff vehicles are serviced on schedule  

 
 
Vehicle type and quantities:         
 
Staff vehicles    5    
         
Pumpers    7      
 
Aerial Ladder Trucks  2          
           
Tankers    2          
 
Rescues    2  
 
Support Unit    1 
          
Squad     1 
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Facilities 

Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller is responsible for coordinating the care, maintenance, repairs and 
upkeep of all fire stations. Station officers are responsible for ensuring that they are routinely 
inspected for any health and safety issues as well.  
 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services operates out of 5 fire stations: 

• Station 1 – Old Town 
• Station 2 – St. Davids  
• Station 3 – Virgil 
• Station 4 – Queenston 
• Station 5 – Glendale 
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Equipment 

Fire Chief Rob Grimwood and Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller are responsible for coordinating the care, 
maintenance, testing, replacement, repairs and management of all firefighting tools and equipment. 
Stations have the responsibility to ensure that all tools and equipment are inspected to ensure 
equipment is in a state of readiness in the event of an emergency.  Routinely, various equipment is 
scheduled to be inspected, tested and maintained according to manufacturer recommendations or 
legislated requirements including: 

• Function testing of breathing apparatus 
• Hydrostatic testing of breathing air cylinders 
• Maintenance, testing and air sampling of breathing air compressors 
• Preventative maintenance on all small equipment, portable pumps, generators, ventilation 

saws, rotary saws etc. 
• Preventative maintenance on all auto extrication equipment  
• Testing and calibration of all gas detection units 
• Testing/inventory of all hose on fire apparatus 
• Bunker gear/PPE inspections, repairs and replacement 
• Testing of all ground ladders 
• Inspection and testing of fire extinguishers 
• Conditioning of portable radios 
• Maintenance and repair of patient care equipment 
• Inspection and maintenance of rope rescue equipment 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

FIREFIGHTER RECOGNITION 

 
• New Recruits 

 

• Laura Robertson Tribute 
 

• Volunteer Firefighter Recognition Event 
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New Recruits 

There were 14 new recruits who joined Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services on January 
1, 2018 and completed a 6 month recruit training program. These new recruits put in approximately 
150 hours of initial training each, before beginning to respond to calls in July. Their dedication to this 
training, and the commitment of the many in-house instructors who provided the training, is much 
appreciated. 

The 2018 recruit class includes the following: 

Station 1 (Old Town)    Station 3 (Virgil) 
Tyler Bessey      Henry Boese 
Jeremy Froese     Jason Meleskie 
Laura Robertson 
Natasha Theobald     Station 4 (Queenston) 
Jason Williams     Bill Maartense 

        
Station 2 (St. Davids)    Station 5 (Glendale) 
Jay Plato      Ryan Geoffroy 
Madeline Skubel     Ken Petrunik 
Eric Trostenko     Jordan Van Egmond 
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Laura Robertson 

Tragically, on July 30, 2018, Firefighter Laura Robertson was killed in a plane crash. Laura had only 
been with the fire department for a short time but her energy and positive attitude has left a lasting 
memory.  

Laura will forever be missed, and never forgotten, by her Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency 
Services friends.  
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Volunteer Firefighter Recognition Event 

On September 15, 2018, Council hosted a volunteer firefighter recognition event. The purpose of the 
event was to recognize the contributions of all volunteer firefighters. In addition, this event specifically 
recognized years of service benchmarks (5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 40 and 45 years of service), new 
recruits, Provincial & Federal long service awards, retirements and promotions. 

A huge thank you to Wayne Gretzky Estates Winery and Distillery for hosting the event and 
sponsoring the refreshments. 

The following firefighters were recognized: 

5 Years of Service  
• Steve Baxter, Dayton Kruitbosch, Jamie Radunsky, Milan Vujovich and Josh Fast  

 
10 Years of Service 

• Jason Disher, Richard Moore and Lyle Renaud 
 
15 Years of Service 

• Jason Edgecombe and Rob Read 
 
25 Years of Service 

• Stan Lament and Simon Drakeford 
 
30 Years of Service 

• Jim Neufeld 
 
35 Years of Service 

• Terry Flynn 
 
45 Years of Service 

• Greg Warner 
 
 

Retirements 
• Brad Wiens (17 years)  
• Frank Pearson (31 years)  
• Scott Pearson (16 years)  
• Simon Drakeford (25 years)  
• Peter Gonta (20 years)  
• Rob Copeland (30 years)   
• Pat O’Brien (21 years) 
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Promotions 
• Dayton Kruitbosch (promoted to Captain at Station 1)  
• Darren Trostenko (promoted to District Chief at Station 2)  
• Dave Rigby (promoted to Assistant District Chief at Station 2)  
• Dave Ignatczyk (promoted to Captain at Station 2)  
• Derek Rooney (promoted to Lieutenant at Station 2)   

 
Federal Fire Services Exemplary Service Medal (20 years) 

• Rob MacLeod (1997-2017)  
• Peter Gonta (1997-2017) 
• Rob Glass (1997-2017) 
• Pat O’Brien (1997-2017) 

 
Provincial Fire Services Long Service Medal (25 years)  

• Stan Lament (1993-2018) 
• Simon Drakeford (1993-2018) 

 
Federal Fire Services Exemplary Service Bar (30 years) 

• Rod Falk (1987-2017) 
• Alan Bilinsky (1987-2017) 
• Cameron Degrow (1987-2017) 
• Jim Neufeld (1988-2018) 

 
Provincial Fire Services Long Service Bar (35 years)  

• Ken Hernder (1982-2017) 
• Terry Flynn (1983-2018) 

 
Provincial Fire Services Long Service Bar (45 years)  

• Greg Warner (1973-2018) 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

 
• Emergency Management Program Committee 

 

• Emergency Plan 
 

• Emergency Exercises 
 

• Emergency Preparedness Public Education 
 

• Emergency Control Group Training 
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Emergency Management Program 

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Emergency Management Program designs, coordinates and implements a 
wide variety of initiatives and activities to ensure compliance with Provincial Emergency Management 
Legislation. 

Annual Emergency Management programming strengthens Niagara-on-the-Lake’s ability to prepare 
for, respond to, and recover from major emergencies. 

In 2018 Niagara-on-the-Lake met all of the Emergency Management Program requirements as 
outlined: 

• Maintaining a Municipal Emergency Response Plan 
• Ensuring that a certified Community Emergency Management Coordinator is trained and 

certified to coordinate emergency response efforts 
• Establishing a Municipal Emergency Control Group that will have responsibility for decision-

making during a large-scale emergency or disaster 
• Conducting an annual review of the municipality’s critical infrastructure 
• Conducting an annual risk assessment of potential hazards 
• Conducting annual training for Emergency Control Group members 
• Conducting an annual emergency exercise  
• Conducting public education relative to emergency management 

2018 Emergency Management Program Highlights 

➢ Members of the Emergency Control Group & Emergency Support Group attended two training 
sessions that prepared the group for managing an emergency and ensured comfort working 
with the emergency plan and the emergency operations centre 

➢ Members of the Emergency Control Group ran a table-top exercise managing a hazardous 
materials emergency 

➢ Personal emergency preparedness information was distributed as part of emergency 
preparedness week 
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2019 Objectives 

1. Complete the purchase of Tanker 2 and place it into service. 
 

2. Revise our incident command and accountability guidelines to improve effectiveness and 
firefighter safety while operating at emergency incidents. 

 
3. Review and revise divisional policies and operating guidelines to ensure compliance with 

legislative requirements and consistency with modern research and developments.  
 

4. Replace the Training Officer pick-up truck (Car 3). 
 

5. Complete the installation of a generator to establish back up power at the Community Centre, 
which would be used as a reception centre during a large-scale emergency. 

 
6. Coordinate the purchase of a new aerial ladder truck. 

 
7. Conduct a fire department core services review and revise the establishing and regulating by-

law.  
 

8. Continue to develop community partnerships to enhance the Fire Safety Public Education 
Program. Better utilize media and social media to provide fire safety education messages to 
the public. 

 
9. Complete the replacement of the fire radio communications system. 

 
10. Fully implement the use of the new records management system by utilizing it for all 

emergency incident reports. 
 

11. Complete firefighter training and certification to meet provincial requirements. 
 

12. Conduct a large-scale emergency exercise that tests the emergency control group and our 
emergency operations centre. 
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